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A year of development  
and international expansion
We expanded our operations at mines in Greece  
and Sweden and opened a new Eco Innovation  
Research Center in Oulu.
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Strategic Priorities  
2024-2025

International Expansion
New Projects in Greece and 

Sweden

Circular Economy
TapoEko product sales totaled 120,000 

kilograms. A new production plant is 
being built in Keminmaa.

Technology
Investments in Autonomous 

Vehicles and Electric Equipment

Personnel
Personnel Growth +17%, 
Focus on Orientation and 

Safety

Highlights

       Circular Economy Act 
Awarded the “Circular Economy Act of 

the Year” recognition

EIR Center
An Eco Innovation Research 

Center was established in Oulu 

Zero Mine Solutions Oy
Zero Mine Solutions Oy was 

founded to handle electrical and 
electronic waste (WEEE.)

 Horizon Programme
Involved in research projects 

under the EU Horizon 
Programme

Key figures

Revenue 
194.1 EUR m

Operating profit 
20.1 EUR m

RDI investments
4.9 EUR m 

 Personnel

911

LTIF (Lost Time Injury 
Frequency) 3,3

Leadership 
Framework

Commitment
To the Principles of the UN Global Compact

Operating Principles
For Promoting Responsibility Within Our 

Own Personnel and Supply Chain

Policies
Supporting the Development of the 

Management System and Leadership 
Processes

Management System
The management system is certified 

according to ISO 9001 in Finland, and both 
ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 in Italy.

Values: Safety – Competence – Efficiency – Profitability

Overview of Tapojärvi 2024 

1495
Energy Intensity

MWh/M€

489
Carbon Intensity

tCO2-ekv / M€

5%
Share of Women

of employees

Business Areas

mining services, industrial 
circular economy, and 
materials handling and 

processing

Countries 

Finland, Sweden, Italy, Greece
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Highlights of  
the year 2024

In 2024, Tapojärvi invested in low-carbon materials and 
processes. The company calculated its operational carbon 
footprint for the first time in accordance with the GHG  
Protocol, with verification provided by Greenstep Oy.

In 2024, Tapojärvi invested in low-carbon materials and processes. The Company cal-
culated its operational carbon footprint for the first time, in accordance with the GHG 
Protocol, with verification provided by Greenstep Oy.

The Group’s revenue totaled EUR 194.1 million, with an operating profit of EUR 20.1 
million (10.75%). The number of personnel increased significantly during the year. 
Equality and employee well-being surveys highlighted areas for development, which 
have already led to concrete actions. Employee retention remains strong, and long 
careers reflect a high level of commitment to the company.

Tapojärvi adheres to the principles of responsible business. Operations are guided 
by a management system certified to the ISO 9001 standard in both Finland and Italy, 
where the ISO 14001 environmental management system is also in place. Uniform 
practices for quality and environmental management are followed across all sites.

Digital training solutions are used to support onboarding, including eLearning cour-
ses focused on safety and leadership training. Work to promote well-being and 
equality continues systematically.

At the core of Tapojärvi’s operations are continuous improvement, safety, and resour-
ce efficiency. The company develops solutions in collaboration with research instituti-
ons and customers, supporting sustainable mining and circular economy practices.
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During the year, we reached several important 
milestones. Our operations expanded espe-
cially in mining projects in Greece and Sweden. 
Investments in circular economy solutions — 
such as the TapoEko product family — delivered 
concrete results in developing low-carbon and 
resource-efficient solutions. Tapojärvi employed 
over 900 people during the year, and the num-
ber of recruitments increased by 70% compared 
to the previous year.
The year also brought notable challenges, 
including a decline in steel industry production 
volumes and the expiration of customer cont-
racts, both of which impacted our business 
operations.

Occupational safety remains a core part of our 
operations. However, we did not reach our set 
target for accident frequency. Our work toward 
a safer working environment continues.

Sustainability was a key focus throughout the 
year. For the first time, we calculated and ve-
rified our carbon footprint in accordance with 
the GHG Protocol. Our goal is to systematically 
reduce environmental impacts. The importance 
of the circular economy in industry is growing, 
and Tapojärvi is actively contributing to this pro-
gress. In 2024, Tapojärvi was awarded the natio-
nal “Circular Economy Act of the Year” award for 
our long-term development work.

I want to thank our personnel for their dedicati-
on and flexibility, and our customers and part-
ners for their continued trust. The year 2025 will 
be a special one for Tapojärvi, as the company 
celebrates its 70th anniversary—a moment to 
reflect on the past and look ahead to the future.

Mari Pilventö Acting CEO

Progress, Change,  
and Sustainability Work
The year 2024 was a significant for Tapojärvi in terms of development,  
internationalization, and sustainability. In line with our strategy,  
we continued to invest in the circular economy, technological development,  
and international operations.
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Key 
Figures:

Revenue
EUR 194.1 million

Operating Profit
EUR 20.1 million (+10.75% growth)

Investments
EUR 60 million 

Recruitment 
70% increase in applicants, 

employees

Tax Impact
Significant group-level tax footprint, 

EUR 43.1 million

Impact
Strengthens regional vitality, 

supports export growth, and creates 
new business opportunities

Actions 
and results:

Processed Material
920,000 tonnes, of which 64% recycled

Circular Economy 
Product Deliveries 
120,000 kilograms
GHG Calculation

completed

Energy Solutions 
Electrified equipment and 

biofuels reduced emissions

TapoEko Product Family
Replaces virgin raw materials

Certification
ISO 14001 (Italy)

Impact
Concrete steps toward 

carbon-neutral and 
resource-efficient 

industry

Key 
figures:

Employment
900+ people in four countries

Long careers
1/3 of personnel with over 5 years of 

service

Safety
11,692 observations, 

LTIF 3.3

Well-being
Equality and employee well-

being surveys

Training
Enhances skills, promotes 
well-being, and advances 

inclusion

Collaboration 
and transparency

Kolari Mining project 
Major future regional 

impact

Stakeholders

Networking events, regional 
collaboration, targeted stakeholder 

meetings

Communication
Resident meetings, digital channels

Sponsorship
 EUR 189,000 for youth and 

children’s activities

Impact
Enables long-term and 

socially accepted industrial 
development

Tapojärvi – Impact Overview

Investments 
and results:

RDI Investments
EUR 4.5 million

Eco Innovation Research Center 
Research and piloting

New products
CE-certified TapoEko products, 

geopolymers

Innovations
Zero Mine Solutions, 

Mastermine, and other 
R&D projects

Impact
Scalable, export-ready, and 

environmentally friendly 
solutions for industry

Economic 
Impact

Environmental 
Impact

Social 
Impact

Societal 
Impact

IInnovation and 
Future Outlook

Impact
Enhances skills, promotes 
well-being, and advances 

inclusion
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Internationalization  
and expansion of mining 
services
We expanded our operations into 
new markets, particularly in Greece 
and Sweden, where the company 
participated in mining production 
activities.

Hannukainen Mining, a subsidia-
ry of the Group, owns the mining 
rights in Kolari and is preparing for 
the reopening of the mine.

Circular economy and 
sustainable development 
solutions
Tapojärvi developed circular eco-
nomy products such as geopoly-
mer-based foundation materials 
and low-carbon cement products, 
which reduce environmental im-
pacts compared to traditional 
materials.

Annually, 2–4% of the company’s 
revenue is allocated to circular eco-
nomy projects.

The Eco Innovation Research Center 
(EIRC) in Oulu and the TapoEko pro-
duction facility in Keminmaa sup-
port the utilization of industrial side 
streams and material development.

In 2024, Tapojärvi received the 
Circular Economy Act of the Year 
award.

Technology,  
automation, and  
digitalization
Tapojärvi continuously invests in 
advanced technology, automation, 
and digital solutions to enhance 
efficiency, safety, and sustainability 
in its operations. These innovations 
support smarter decision-making, 
optimize resource use, and improve 
productivity across services.

Responsibility  
and personnel  
development

The company is committed to the 
UN Global Compact principles and 
the Towards Sustainable Mining 
(TSM) standard.

Defined operating principles and 
policies, along with a systematic ap-
proach, guide the development and 
management of quality, environme-
ntal, and safety matters across all 
sites.

Personnel development was sup-
ported through eLearning pro-
grams, equality initiatives, and well-
being benefits such as employee 
bicycles.

Sustainability highlights:  
towards the set goals
Tapojärvi’s strategy is built on sustainable growth, responsibility, and customer-driven solutions. The aim is 
to strengthen the company’s position as a provider of mining and circular economy services, and to develop 
solutions that support a low-carbon and resource-efficient industry.

The four main objectives of the strategy
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Theme 2023 2024
Objective 
2025

Carbon  
footprint
(tCO2-ekv / M€)

507 489 Preparation 
of a Transi-
tion Plan

LTIF 3.8 3.3 0

Processed 
material

970 000 
tons

Recovery Rate: 
67 %

920 000 
tons

Recovery 
Rate:
65 %

No objective

Recovery 
Rate: objecti-
ve 75 %

Safety  
observations

9,800 11,692 > 12,000

Ethics and  
responsibility  
at Tapojärvi

Operations are guided by  
honesty and transparency, 

both on worksites and
 in administration.

The Code of Conduct requires all personnel 
to act professionally and responsibly.

Suppliers are expected to commit to Tapo-
järvi’s ethical principles of conduct.

Responsibility Objectives

At Tapojärvi, responsibility 
is not a separate area  

– it is a way of working.

Aki Pekuri, 
Development Manager, 
Operational Activities

The whistleblowing channel enables anonymous  
reporting of potential misconduct.
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Operations expanded into new markets, and 
collaboration with key customers strength-
ened. Global fluctuations in raw material pric-
es, geopolitical uncertainties, and tightening 
environmental regulations created uncertainty 
to the operating environment, but Tapojärvi 
adapted flexibly to changing conditions.

The year began with challenging production 
conditions in Sweden, where a new project 
was launched in –40°C temperatures. In 
Sweden, Tapojärvi is responsible for nearly 
all open-pit production work at Kaunis Iron’s 
mine.

Preparations for the new underground min-
ing project in Skouries began in the spring. 
In the first phase, 30 Finnish and 15 Greek 
employees were recruited. By the end of the 
year, nearly 100 people were working at the 
Skouries site.

According to the client, the development of 
underground mining in Greece progressed 
as planned, and trial mining is expected to 
be completed during 2025. Tapojarvi Hellas 
is also running a multi-year training program 
to develop the skills of the local workforce, 
particularly in operating large-scale mining 
equipment.

At the end of the year, Tapojärvi signed a new 
contract with Agnico Eagle Finland Oy for the 
Kittilä mine. The agreement includes loading, 
transport, and machinery work. In addition, 
the previous ground support contract was 
extended.

During the year, new safety practices and dig-
ital risk management tools were implemented 
to prevent accidents. Approximately EUR 25 
million of the Group’s investments was allo-
cated to the acquisition and modernization of 
energy-efficient mining equipment, as well as 
the development of digital solutions.

Expansion of 
Mining Services
In 2024, the mining industry in Finland continued to grow, which 
increased the demand for mining technology and service solutions. 
This development also created new business opportunities for  
Tapojärvi.

In mining services, we 
focused on continuous 

operational development, 
meeting customer needs, 
and ensuring safety in all 
working environments.

Anssi Rytkönen, 
Director of Mining Services
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Internationaliza-
tion

•	 Establishment of a new office 
in Greece (Tapojarvi Hellas 
M.I.K.E.)

•	 Service agreement in Sweden 
with Kaunis Iron

•	 2 new international mining ser-
vice agreements

•	 Increase in international job op-
portunities

Automation and 
Digitalization

•	 Implementation of digital risk 
management tools

•	 Investments in remotely ope-
rated equipment

•	 Improved occupational safety
•	 Modernized mining production

Development  
of Personnel  
Competence

•	 Multi-year training program 
in Greece

•	 Development of recruitment 
and onboarding processes

•	 Growth in local workforce skills
•	 A functional international trai-

ning model

Improvement of 
Energy Efficiency

•	 Acquisition of electrified and 
biofuel-powered equipment

•	 Reduced carbon footprint
•	 More efficient energy use

Integration of 
Circular Economy 
into the Mining 
Sector

•	 Utilization of waste rock and 
industrial side streams in ma-
terial development

•	 Implementation of circular eco-
nomy solutions at new sites

More Environme-
ntally Friendly 
Technologies

•	 Development and piloting 
of emission-free and more 
sustainable processes

•	 New solutions for material  
recycling and process develop-
ment

Strengthening the 
Domestic Market

•	 New project in Kittilä (Agnico 
Eagle Finland)

•	 1 new significant domestic cont-
ract

•	 Increase in equipment and per-
sonnel
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During the year, Tapojärvi increased its in-
vestments in research, development, and 
investment projects that support the growth 
of the circular economy.

Tapojarvi Italia focused on products utilizing 
stainless steel slag as raw material. In 2024, 
significant progress was made in product certi-
fication and market entry.

At the beginning of 2025, the Italian environ-
mental authority approved the use of TapoEko 
filler in both base and surface layers of asphalt 
structures.

Collaboration with UPM led to major advance-
ments in the development of low-carbon pro-
ducts. This cooperation and the related patent 
process are discussed in more detail in the RDI 
section (p. 40).

In May, the Eco Innovation Research Center 
was opened in Oulu, focusing on the research 
of industrial side streams and the develop-
ment of circular economy products.

Construction of the TapoEko production fa-
cility began in Keminmaa. Its goal is to utilize 
industrial side streams in the production of 
low-carbon cement and concrete products.

Solutions for circular  
economy development 
Circular economy is a key component of the sustainable development 
goals of both the European Union and Finland. Its aim is to reduce the 
consumption of natural resources, prevent the generation of waste, 
and improve the reuse of materials. In 2024, the importance of cir-
cular economy became more prominent in industrial policy, offering 
Tapojärvi new opportunities to develop its services and products in 
this area.
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Commercialization of 
new circular economy 
products

•	 Development and launch of 
TapoEko products

•	 CE and environmental certi-
fications in Italy

•	 TapoEko filler was officially 
approved for asphalt use at 
the beginning of 2025

•	 New products developed for 
the production of concrete, 
asphalt, and mortar

•	 Sales volume of circular 
economy products reached 
120,000 kilograms

Collaboration with 
various industrial 
sectors

•	 Collaboration with UPM in 
the development of belite 
cement

•	 Joint permitting and produc-
tion planning

•	 Patent granted for belite 
cement

•	 Progress in pilot projects and 
production planning

Reduction in the 
use of virgin natural 
resources

•	 Development of low-carbon 
products from industrial 
side streams

•	 920,000 tonnes of processed 
material, 65% of which was 
returned to circulation

Utilization of  
digitalization

•	 Opening of the Eco Innovati-
on Research Center

•	 Data management and 
measurement of material 
circulation

•	 Digital R&D activities expan-
ded in Oulu, Tornio, and 
Terni

International  
expansion

•	 Tapojarvi Italia expanded 
markets with slag-based 
products

•	 Certification enabled expan-
ded export opportunities

•	 Sales of TapoEko products 
started in Italy

•	 International visibility was 
strengthened
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The company invested a total of EUR 25 
million in, among other things, autonomous 
mining vehicles, AI-based analytics tools, and 
renewable energy. These solutions streng-
thened operational reliability and resource 
efficiency, while also supporting long-term 
strategic goals.

During the year, the following were  
implemented:

•	 Autonomous mining vehicles to enhance 
production efficiency

•	 Remotely operated loaders to improve 
safety and precision

•	 Electrified mining equipment to reduce 
emissions

•	 Drone technology used for monitoring 
quarries and supervising production 
processes

In addition, artificial intelligence and machine 
learning were applied to process optimization 
and production data analysis. Sensor techno-
logy was used to support maintenance and 
equipment lifecycle planning.

The work of Tapojärvi’s technology team refle-
cts the company’s strategic direction, where 
the adoption of new technologies is seen as an 
integral part of operational development and 
achieving responsibility objectives.

Technology, automation 
and digitalization
In 2024, Tapojärvi implemented several development initiatives and 
investments in the areas of technology, automation, and digitaliza-
tion. The goal was to enhance production efficiency and safety, as 
well as to develop solutions that support the principles of sustainable 
development.

During 2024, the techno-
logy department focused 
on streamlining processes 

and strengthening the 
organization to meet the 

needs of new projects.

Juhani Ruokamo, 
CTO
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Increased mining  
automation

•	 Deployment of autonomous 
equipment

•	 Expansion of AI and mach-
ine learning solutions into 
production use

•	 Production efficiency impro-
ved without additional costs

•	 Occupational safety enhan-
ced through automation

Improved energy  
efficiency

•	 Introduction of electrified 
equipment

•	 Investments in renewable 
energy

•	 Fuel consumption and emis-
sions decreased with new 
equipment

•	 Stronger sustainability profile

Digitalization  
of safety

•	 AI-based risk analysis tools
•	 Use of sensor technology in 

maintenance

•	 Lost Time Injury Frequency 
(LTIF) decreased

•	 Predictive maintenance beca-
me more efficient

Building future digital 
solutions

•	 €25 million invested in te-
chnology and digitalization

•	 A modern production plat-
form was established for 
future innovations

•	 Strengthened long-term com-
petitiveness
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The total amount of RDI investments was EUR 
4.5 million. The focus areas included circular 
economy solutions, reducing environmental 
impacts, and developing new business models.

The most significant initiatives launched in 
2024 included:

•	 Opening of the Eco Innovation Research 
Center in Oulu

•	 Launch of the permitting process for a cir-
cular economy-based cement plant

•	 Participation in EU Horizon Programme 
research projects

•	 Establishment of a new company, Zero 
Mine Solutions Oy, focused on hydrometal-
lurgical recycling of electrical and electronic 
waste

Tapojärvi was also involved in developing new 
patentable solutions, such as belite cement 
based on UPM’s industrial side streams. In 
spring 2024, the company was awarded the 
Circular Economy Act of the Year recognition.
We received EUR 0.7 million in public funding 
to support our RDI activities.

Key focus areas of RDI activities:
•	 Reducing the use of virgin raw materials
•	 Utilizing by-products to create new pro-

ducts
•	 Minimizing environmental impacts
•	 Enhancing innovation-driven competitive-

ness

Innovation drives  
tapojärvi’s sustainable  
growth
In 2024, Tapojärvi’s research, development, and innovation (RDI) activi-
ties were a central part of the Group’s strategic development. The RDI 
efforts were guided by the goal of developing low-carbon and resour-
ce-efficient solutions that promote industrial circular economy.

The opening of the new 
innovation center in 

Oulu, the development 
of TapoEko products, 

and the national Circular 
Economy Act award are 
proof that our long-term 
investment in research 

and product development 
is worthwhile.

Henri Pilventö, 
CCO
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Development of 
low-carbon products

•	 Launch of TapoEko products
•	 Cement plant planning in 

collaboration with UPM

•	 First TapoEko products laun-
ched to the market

Utilization of  
industrial side 
streams

•	 Opening of the laboratory in 
Oulu

•	 TYPKI and TapoFix projects
•	 Implementation of geopoly-

mer-based products

•	 Circular Economy Act of the 
Year award

•	 New products developed for 
bitumen membrane, concre-
te, and asphalt

Urban mining and 
critical materials

•	 Establishment of the compa-
ny Zero Mine Solutions Oy

•	 Piloting hydrometallurgical 
recycling of electronic waste

Innovative pilots and 
technology

•	 Pilots for tailings pond emp-
tying at mines

•	 Adoption of shear angle 
measurement technology

•	 Successful practical tests 
conducted for customers

•	 Commercialization of new 
technology

Strengthening  
research networks 
and commercializati-
on

•	 Partnership with Lapland 
University of Applied Scien-
ces (Lapin AMK)

•	 Test facility established in 
Keminmaa

•	 International CE and REACH 
certifications

•	 Collaboration with over 20 
universities through the In-
novation Challenge

•	 Italian products approved for 
use by ANAS (Italian national 
road authority)
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In 2024, Tapojärvi strengthened the role of 
safety as an integral part of both strategic 
management and daily operations. Accident 
prevention, risk management, and a proactive 
safety culture were overarching themes at all 
our sites, both in Finland and internationally.

Throughout the year, we unified onboarding 
and safety practices across different sites and 
countries. The training of new employees 
was enhanced through digital platforms and 
hands-on exercises. At Tapojärvi, safety is not a 
separate process—it is part of every workday. 
Onsite, this is reflected in daily safety briefings, 
observations, and an open feedback culture.

Our personnel made over 11,000 safety ob-
servations, demonstrating commitment and 
shared responsibility. Based on these, we 
implemented concrete improvements—such as 
enhancing workstation organization, updating 
work instructions, and increasing protective 
structures. The SAF frequency, which measures 
the activity of safety observations, exceeded its 
target level.

Technology’s role in safety grew stronger. We 
now use collision prevention systems, digital 
reporting tools, and sensor technologies in 
maintenance to anticipate equipment-related 
risks and support site safety.

Tapojärvi participated in the Mastermine proje-
ct to develop new solutions for mine safety and 
occupational health. In Greece, we launched 
a training program for the safe operation of 
heavy equipment, tailored for the local work-
force.

Safety was measured with several indicators. 
The Lost Time Injury Frequency (LTIF) decrea-
sed from the previous year to 3.3. In the HSEQ 
supplier evaluation, Tapojärvi scored 671 out 
of a maximum of 750 points, reflecting the high 
quality of our safety practices.

At Tapojärvi, safety is not a campaign—it is a 
way of being and working. Every action, obser-
vation, and interaction takes us one step closer 
to a zero-accident culture.

Safety is built through  
today’s actions
At Tapojärvi, safety is always the number one value.

Although the zero-accident target was not achieved, the SAF frequency and the number of 
safety observations demonstrate strong activity and commitment to promoting safety.
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Zero-accident culture •	 Root cause analysis of 
accidents and near-miss 
incidents

•	 Safety briefings, site walks, 
and observations integrated 
into daily routines

•	 LTIF: 3.3 (target 0)
•	 TRIF: 6.6
•	 SAF frequency: 10,704  

(target 10,000)

Strengthening safety 
competence

•	 eLearning safety training for 
all employees and supervi-
sors

•	 Standardized onboarding 
process for new employees

•	 Personnel trained in safety 
culture

•	 Improved onboarding prac-
tices across different count-
ries

Digital and technolo-
gical safety

•	 Collision avoidance systems 
installed in vehicles

•	 Digital reporting and moni-
toring systems

•	 Real-time management of 
safety data

•	 Strengthened proactive safe-
ty efforts

Continuous improve-
ment of operations

•	 Safety audits and surveys
•	 Development actions fo-

cused on supervisory work 
and leadership

•	 671 points in HSEQ evaluati-
on (maximum 750)

•	 Initiated actions to strengt-
hen supervisory work

Development of mine 
safety

•	 Participation in the Master-
mine project

•	 Development of new soluti-
ons to promote occupational 
health, efficiency, and safety
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Tapojärvi’s personnel is a central part of the 
Group’s operations and growth.
In 2024, the number of employees increased 
significantly: the company employed over 
911 people across four countries. In 2025, the 
number of employees is expected to exceed 
1,000. The number of applicants rose by 70% 
compared to the previous year, with over 
1,800 applications received for open positions.

Employee development and well-being

Tapojärvi made extensive investments in 
employee well-being, skills development, and 
equality. Onboarding and training processes 
were strengthened and expanded to include 
subcontractors and temporary workers, who 
are an essential part of the work community. 
Job rotation opportunities were offered both 
in Finland and abroad, increasing career versa-
tility and employee engagement.

Approximately one-third of employees have 
been with Tapojärvi for more than five years. 
The average age of employees was 40 years, 
and employee retention has improved stea-
dily. Well-being initiatives focused on physical 

and psychological safety, workload balance, 
and workplace atmosphere.

In 2024, employees identified responsibility, 
listening, and solution orientation as the most 
important shared principles at the workplace. 
These values emerged strongly in employee 
surveys and now guide daily operations.

Equality and non-discrimination

Tapojärvi is committed to providing an equal 
and inclusive working environment. A survey 
conducted in 2024 showed that 80% of res-
pondents had not observed inequality at the 
workplace. Areas for improvement were raised 
particularly regarding pay and task distributi-
on, which the company has begun to address 
through supervisor training and increased 
communication about reporting channels.

While the industrial sector is traditionally 
male-dominated, Tapojärvi does not assign 
roles based on gender. Recruitment focuses 
on skills and suitability for the role. In 2024, 
women made up 5% of the workforce, which is 
in line with the industry average.

People are the core  
of our success 
In 2024, significant investments were made in employee well-being, 
skills development, and equality – the number of employees grew to 
over 900.

Meillä on
nollatoleranssi 
epäasialliselle

kohtelulle.

– Janne Alatalo, hallintojohtaja
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Availability and  
growth of workforce

•	 Extensive recruitment cam-
paign, increased job rotation 
and assignments

•	 Workforce grew to over 900; 
number of applicants increa-
sed by 70%

•	 Opportunities for internatio-
nal assignments

Supporting employee 
well-being

•	 Comprehensive employee 
well-being program

•	 Workplace ground rules 
were defined together; emp-
loyees felt heard

•	 Introduction of employee 
benefit bikes

Continuous skills  
development

•	 Onboarding, training, deve-
lopment discussions, and 
development of the eLear-
ning platform

•	 One-third of employees 
have been with the company 
for over 5 years

•	 Additional eLearning training 
modules in development

Promoting Equality 
and Non-Discrimina-
tion

•	 Equality survey, supervisor 
training, and communication 
about the reporting channel

•	 80% of employees did not 
observe inequality at work; 
issues were addressed when 
raised

Strengthening Emplo-
yee Engagement

•	 Enabling career rotation and 
implementing a long-term 
HR strategy

•	 Employee turnover decrea-
sing with experience; strong 
internal mobility

Ensuring a Safe Wor-
king Environment

•	 Onboarding, safety training, 
toolbox talks, and active 
observation

•	 Low sick leave rate (2024: 
3.2%); zero tolerance for 
inappropriate behavior
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The company engages in interaction with a 
diverse network of stakeholders, both internal-
ly and externally. In 2024, stakeholder coope-
ration was guided by the goals of enhancing 
transparency, promoting a shared culture of 
responsibility, and supporting sustainable 
development through partnerships.

Tapojärvi’s stakeholders include, among ot-
hers, employees, owners, subcontractors and 
temporary workers, customers, authorities, 
local communities, educational partners, and 
research and development actors. The com-
pany’s aim is to build long-term, trust-based 
relationships where responsibility is seen as a 
shared objective.

Stakeholder engagement extended beyond 
mere listening - it also included active respon-
ses and development actions. Feedback was 
used concretely to improve operations, and 
the company sought to address concerns rai-
sed by stakeholders through specific measu-
res.

Support for Local Communities

In 2024, Tapojärvi supported local commu-
nities with a total of EUR 189,000. This sup-
port was directed towards local sports clubs, 
cultural organizations, and associations within 
the company’s areas of operation. The goal 
of sponsorship and support activities was to 
promote regional vitality and strengthen a 
sense of community. Tapojärvi also actively 
participated in various events and community 
interactions in its operating locations.

Dialogue as Part of Responsibility

For Tapojärvi, responsibility is not merely an 
internal operating model; it also includes ac-
tive and visible dialogue with the surrounding 
society. Cooperation with stakeholders is 
viewed as an ongoing process that supports 
the company’s goals regarding sustainability, 
transparency, and societal impact.

Collaboration with  
stakeholders based on 
partnership 
Sustainability is embedded throughout the entire supply and pro-
duction chain.
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Building trust and 
transparency with 
stakeholders

•	 Stakeholder surveys, infor-
mation sessions, real-time 
sharing of environmental 
data, Vänkätupa meetings

•	 Results from the Kolari resi-
dent survey were utilized in 
project planning, and feed-
back was addressed through 
concrete actions

Ensuring responsibi-
lity throughout the 
supply chain

•	 Supplier Code of Conduct 
principles, training for 
subcontractors and tempo-
rary workers

•	 Responsibility principles 
were implemented for supp-
liers, and the orientation 
covered all site personnel

Strengthening  
tapojärvi’s employer 
brand

•	 Website and brand identity 
updates, visibility on social 
media, recruitment commu-
nication

•	 The number of applicants 
increased by 70%, with over 
1,800 applicants; Tapojärvi 
was recognized as a pioneer 
in the circular economy

Improving accessi-
bility and impact in 
internal communica-
tion

•	 Deployment and develop-
ment of Tavi (intranet), 
communication via Teams 
and email, internal news and 
guidelines

•	 Internal news was actively 
shared through multiple 
channels

Developing societal 
dialogue and social 
license to operate

•	 Image work related to the 
Kolari mining project, parti-
cipation in local events and 
public discussions, impact 
communication

•	 Positive media visibility in-
creased; new channels and 
visual materials were int-
roduced in the image work 
related to Hannukainen
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In 2024, environmental responsibility became 
an increasingly prominent part of Tapojärvi’s 
overall business strategy. The company be-
gan addressing environmental issues more 
strongly through the lenses of competitive-
ness, customer expectations, and forthcoming 
regulations. Responsibility was not limited to 
individual projects—it systematically guided 
investment decisions and technology choices 
as well.

Operational development focused particularly 
on improving energy and material efficiency in 
production. Collaboration with various sta-
keholders strengthened Tapojärvi’s role as a 
solution provider in the industrial circular eco-
nomy, and the transition towards lower-car-
bon operating models advanced through the 
implementation of new production technolo-
gies and data-driven environmental monito-
ring.

Tapojärvi is developing its operations through 
environmental responsibility to respond to 
market changes. Key drivers include the Euro-
pean Union’s circular economy strategy, the 
electrification of industry, and growing custo-
mer demands for sustainability. During 2024, 
the company laid the foundation for a long-
term transition towards more resource-wise 
and climate-friendly business practices.

Environmental  
responsibility is at the  
core of our operation
Tapojärvi operates in close connection with the mining industry and 
materials processing, sectors that entail considerable environmental 
impacts. 
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Impact

Objective Actions Achievements

Improving energy
efficiency and 
reducing emissions

• Transition to biofuels at the
Tornio and Kemi sites

• Installation of solar panels at
the Keminmaa central main-
tenance facility

• Use of fossil fuels decreased
• Renewable energy was

adopted

Carbon footprint 
calculation and 
emissions reduction 
planning

• First company-level car-
bon footprint calculation in
accordance with the GHG
Protocol

• Results were verified by
Greenstep Oy, supporting
future sustainability repor-
ting

Promoting circular 
economy and 
material recycling

• Utilization of industrial side
streams and development of
low-carbon products

• 920,000 tonnes of material
processed, of which 64%
was returned to circulation

• A total of 120,000 kilograms
of circular economy pro-
ducts sold

• Awarded the “Circular Eco-
nomy Act of the Year”

Innovation and deve-
lopment to reduce 
environmental impacts

• TapoEko production facility,
geopolymer structures, and
planning of a hydrometallur-
gical processing plant

• Low-carbon construction
materials were developed,
and waste recovery was
improved

Biodiversity 
protection

• Development of geopolymer
structures for the treatment
of acid-generating waste
rocks

• Reduced risk of water and
soil contamination

Strengthening 
environmental 
management

• Tapojarvi Italia obtained ISO
14001 certification

• Certification demonstrates
the company’s commitment
to environmental manage-
ment
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The year 2024 was marked by fluctuation 
across the industrial and mining sectors.
Global uncertainties—such as raw material 
price volatility, geopolitical tensions, and tight-
ening environmental regulations—shaped the 
dynamics of the industry. At the same time, the 
green transition, growing demand for sustai-
nable materials, and the increasing emphasis 
on the circular economy opened up new busi-
ness opportunities.

Tapojärvi’s mining services business continued 
to grow, but changes in the operating envi-
ronment—such as rising production costs and 
increasing environmental requirements—also 
introduced challenges. The company’s in-
vestments in circular economy solutions and 
digitalization helped maintain competitiveness. 
Projects in Greece and Sweden, along with the 
development of TapoEko products, further 
strengthened Tapojärvi’s position in the mar-
ket.

Competitive Landscape and  
Customer Relations

Tapojärvi operates in markets where key 
success factors include customer orientation, 
quality, safety, and responsibility. In large-scale 
contracts, price competitiveness is especially 
critical. The company has built long-term cus-
tomer relationships with major players in the 

industrial and mining sectors and continued to 
strengthen these partnerships and expand its 
service offering to new industries in 2024.

The integration of technology, sustainability, 
and operational efficiency is seen as a central 
success factor for the future.

Outlook for 2025

Tapojärvi’s outlook for 2025 is stable and positive. 
Investments driven by the green transition, the 
EU’s circular economy strategy, and the growing 
demand for minerals fueled by electrification are 
expected to support the company’s business and 
future growth.

Key Market Trends

•	 Rise of the Circular Economy: EU regula-
tions, customers’ sustainability goals, and 
raw material availability challenges are dri-
ving increased demand for circular econo-
my solutions

•	 Transformation of the Mining Industry:  
The growing need for raw materials driven 
by electrification and the battery industry is 
increasing demand. Key focus areas include 
safety, efficiency, and minimizing environ-
mental impacts.

•	 Industrial Digitalization: The use of au-
tomation, artificial intelligence, and sensor 
technologies is expanding, increasing de-

mand for intelligent production and service 
solutions

•	 Importance of Internationalization: The 
limitations of the domestic market are 
boosting interest in international mining 
and industrial projects, particularly in Eu-
rope.

Focus Areas for 2025

•	 Continuing international expansion and 
strengthening customer relationships

•	 Scaling up the production of circular eco-
nomy products (e.g., the TapoEko Center in 
Keminmaa)

•	 Expanding the deployment of electrified 
equipment

•	 Enhancing safety performance and achie-
ving the LTIF target (zero)

•	 Strategic stakeholder communication and 
social impact promotion 

•	 Strengthening Tapojärvi’s market position

Market Review 2024
Operating environment and outlook
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Segment Tapojärvi’s Role Development in 2024

Mining services •	 Service provider; full or par-
tial project execution

•	 3 new service agreements 
signed

Industrial circular 
economy

•	 Processing of industrial side 
streams, material recovery 
and productization

•	 TapoEko products launched 
in Italy and Finland

Research and  
development

•	 Strategic focus on circular 
economy and digitalization

•	 EUR 4.9 million invested in 
R&D

•	 New pilots and patents int-
roduced

International growth •	 Operations in Europe •	 Tapojarvi Hellas establis-
hed in Greece; new service 
agreement launched in 
Sweden

•	 Export product portfolio 
expanding

Tapojärvi’s Market Position

R&D investments

4.5
EUR m

LTIF

3.3
Excavated tunnel

7,561
meters

Circular Economy 
Products

120,000
Delivery volume (kg)



32

Risk management is an integral part of both 
strategic decision-making and day-to-day ope-
rational leadership. Its objective is to identify, 
assess, and manage risks that may impact the 
company’s operations, financial performance, 
employee safety, environmental footprint, or 
corporate reputation.

The company’s activities are guided by a certi-
fied management system, the Group’s opera-
ting principles, and internal control practices.

In 2024, Tapojärvi’s risk management capa-
bilities were tested by a changing operating 
environment and projects related to interna-
tional expansion. The company’s risk manage-
ment practices proved effective and supported 
business continuity.

Further development will focus especially 
on the following areas:

• Strengthening occupational safety
• Improving the resilience of supply chains
• Utilizing data-driven analytics in risk asses-

sment and forecasting

Examples of risk management
actions in 2024:

• Equipment risk management:
Investments were made in electrified
machinery and predictive maintenance sys-
tems, which reduced production downtime
and lowered emissions for the renewed
equipment fleet.

• Environmental permit risks:
In the Hannukainen mining project, surface
and groundwater studies were conducted
to support the environmental permitting
process.

• Supplier risks:
In managing the supplier network, empha-
sis was placed on using ISO-certified part-
ners, and collaboration was guided by the
Supplier Code of Conduct. Regular audits
were also carried out.

• Occupational safety risks:
The SAF frequency indicator was in use,
and a total of 11,692 safety observations
were recorded during the year. Although
the LTIF target was not achieved, progress
was made.

Risk management and 
assessment
Tapojärvi approaches risk management strategically and systemati-
cally as an integral part of sustainable business operations.
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Risk Categories and Analysis

Risk Category Description Mitigation Measures

Strategic risks •	 Uncertainties in internatio-
nal expansion, customer 
dependency, regulatory 
changes

•	 Long-term contracts, broad 
customer base, regular mar-
ket monitoring

Operational risks •	 Equipment performance, 
supply chain disruptions, 
availability of skilled per-
sonnel

•	 In-house maintenance orga-
nization, backup equipment 
fleet, training programs for 
personnel, subcontractor 
monitoring

Environmental risks •	 Environmental impacts, 
waste management

•	 ISO 14001-certified system, 
GHG accounting, compliance 
reporting, cooperation with 
authorities

Safety risks •	 Accidents, occupational 
illnesses, equipment-relat-
ed risks

•	 Zero-accident target, safety 
briefings, eLearning training, 
vehicle safety technologies

Financial risks •	 Interest rate fluctuations, 
currency risks, customer 
solvency

•	 Cash flow monitoring, in-
dex-linked contracts, credit 
insurance

Reputational risks •	 Negative publicity, supp-
lier-related risks, ethical 
misconduct

•	 Code of Conduct, whistleblo-
wing channel, responsibility 
audits, proactive communi-
cation



Financial year 2024

Part 2

Tapojärvi Oy, 1.1.–31.12.2024
The following subsidiaries are wholly owned (100% ownership):
Hannukainen Mining Oy, Kolari
Tapojarvi Italia s.r.l
Tapojärvi Sverige Ab
Tapojarvi Hellas M.I.K.E.

2024
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Sustainability reporting is not a statutory 
obligation for Tapojärvi, but we are com-
mitted to developing our sustainability 
communication as a transparent and 
reliable part of our financial reporting.

This document includes key perspectives 
from the financial year that also address 
stakeholders’ growing expectations for 
sustainable business practices.

Contents
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Tapojärvi is globally respected pioneer in mining services 
and industrial circular economy. The company
provides their customers with innovative and resource-effi-
cient solutions. Solutions that cover the entire
value chain — from mining operations to reuse and 
processing of materials.

Decades of experience, continuous development, and cus-
tomer-oriented approach makes Tapojärvi a
reliable partner. The company combines practical expertise 
with high technology, enabling sustainable
and cost-effective solutions.
The company operates at multiple mines and mills as an 
integral part of production, creating added value
and savings for the customers. Investments in automation, 
digitalization, and data utilization ensure
competitiveness in growing markets.
Strong expertise, courage, and flexibility drive operations. 
Long-term and responsible business activities,
employee development, and close collaboration with cus-
tomers guarantee quality operations and
sustainable growth.

The demand for circular economy and mining services is 
increasing globally. Tapojärvi has strategically
positioned itself in these expanding markets.
The company’s financial and material resources are strong, 
aiming for long-term, profitable business
operations. Commitment to employee training and skills 
development ensures high-quality services and
efficiency. Alongside, Tapojärvi shares corporate social 
responsibility.

Board of Directors
CEO and Executive 
Management Team Operational Management 

Production Sites, Business 
Units, Sales and 

Development

CORPORATE CULTURE

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND MANAGEMENT

Risk Management, 
Strategy  Way of Working

Policies and Principles
Reporting

Production 
according to 
metrics and 
guidelines External Audits

Internal Audit

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

OPERATIONAL SERVICE DELIVERY

Purpose Values Code of conduct Leadership Model

Economic
Forecasting 
Scenarios

Planning

Directors´report
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Key business actions during the financial 
year
The year 2024 was significant for Tapojärvi group, as the company ex-
panded into new markets, invested in circular economy solutions, and 
strengthened its position in mining and industrial services. The global po-
litical situation continued to pose challenges to company’s operations in 
the form of rising costs, delayed deliveries, and unpredictable production 
fluctuations.
The group’s revenue was EUR 194.1 million, operating profit EUR 20.9 mil-
lion and equity ratio 29.0 %.
Parent company Tapojärvi Oy’s revenue was EUR 139.0 million, operating 
profit EUR 19.9 million and
equity ratio 31.7 %.

New Contracts and Business Expansion

•	 Kittilä Gold Mine: Tapojärvi Oy signed a new loading and transport 
contract with Agnico Eagle Finland Oy for Kittilä Gold Mine. The 
agreement includes loading and transport of development rock, 
maintenance of the mine’s road network, and other supporting 
tasks.

•	 Mining Project in Greece: Tapojärvi Oy established a new subsidia-
ry, Tapojarvi Hellas M.I.K.E, and began production preparations at 
Hellas Gold’s underground gold mine in Skouries. In the initial pha-
se, 30 Finnish and 15 Greek operators were recruited. The number 
of personnel is expected to grow as production increases.

•	 Kaunis Iron Mine, Sweden: The service contract in Pajala launched 
at the beginning of the year under extreme -40°C conditions. At Kau-
nis Iron mine, Tapojärvi is responsible for almost all open pit mining 
production tasks, except for rock hauling, drilling, and blasting.

Investments and Development Projects

•	 Eco Innovation Research Center (EIRC), Oulu, Finland: Tapojärvi 
opened a new innovation center with laboratory and production 
facilities in Oulu. EIRC develops circular economy products from 
industrial by-products and supports the growth of the company’s 
TapoEko product family. The Oulu laboratory is part of a broader 
development network with production labs in Tornio, Finland and 
Terni, Italy, as well as a mobile laboratory for field testing

•	 TapoEko Production Facility, Keminmaa: TapoEko Product Cen-
ter is under construction and will enable testing and production 
of lowcarbon cement and concrete products for industry purpo-
ses.

•	 Launching TapoEko Products: Tapojärvi introduced new circular 
economy-based products, including low-carbon cementproducts 
and fillers for bitumen membrane manufacturing.

•	 Research and Development Projects: Tapojärvi invested EUR 4.5 
million in Research & Development work. Projects included geopo-
lymer-based base and cover structures, hydrometallurgical proces-
sing of electronic waste, and reopening of an old mining site.

Structural Adjustment Effort and Organizational Changes

•	 Outokumpu Tornio Steel Plant: Outokumpu announced a signifi-
cant reduction in production volumes and temporary shutdown of 
a ferrochrome furnace until August 2024. This led to cooperation 
negotiations and personnel adjustments at Tornio site.

•	 SSAB Raahe Steel Plant: Tapojärvi’s contract ends in April 2025. This 
will end over 30 years of collaboration, during which Tapojärvi develo-
ped its industrial circular economy services.

•	 LKAB Malmberget Mine, Sweden: The contract ended in March 
2024. The contract included stoping, supporting, and equipping 
with all work phases included, as well as loading and transportation. 
Loading and transportation were further outsourced to a subcont-
ractor.

Year 2024
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Sustainability and Employee Development

•	 ISO 14001 Environmental Certification: Tapojärvi Italia S.r.l received 
the prestigious ISO 14001:2015 certification for environmental mana-
gement.

•	 Management Systems and Safety: Tapojärvi achieved 671 points (out 
of 750) in HSEQ supplier assessment, reflecting the company’s impro-
vement in quality and safety standards.

Employee and Sustainability Programs

•	 eLearning courses on safety and leadership are now available to all emp-
loyees.

•	 Equality and equity survey led to new actions to improve workplace cultu-
re.

•	 Employee Pulse survey showed that overall employee satisfaction remain-
ed stable.

•	 Company-sponsored bicycles were introduced as a new employee 
benefit in the spring.

Future Outlook

•	 Tapojärvi will celebrate its 70th anniversary in 2025, and the group’s 
number of personnel is expected to exceed 1,000 employees.

•	 Kittilä Mine service contract will drive growth, and ongoing recruit-
ment efforts will expand the company’s capacity.

•	 Hannukainen Mining Oy’s mining project is progressing, with a new 
environmental permit application to be submitted in 2025. A mining 
permit decision is expected the same year.

•	 Circular economy investments will continue, and the expansion 
of the TapoEko product line will open new markets and customer 
opportunities.

The group’s total number of investments during the financial year were EUR 
60 million. Most of the investments were directed to mining machinery. The 
parent company’s number of investments were EUR 49,7 million and they 
were directed to mining machinery. The equipment is a key part of Tapojär-
vi’s reliable and efficient operations. The performance of the equipment is 

secured by group’s internal maintenance organisation.

Management system

Tapojärvi Oy’s quality management system is based on the requirements 
of the ISO 9001:2015 quality management system standard. In 2024, a 
reassessment, carried out every three years, was conducted at Tapojärvi 
Oy’s sites.
Tapojärvi Oy has been awarded the ISO 9001 quality certificate since 2012. 
ISO 9001 is the world’s bestknown quality standard, used as a manage-
ment tool and to ensure the uniformity of operations.
In July 2024, Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l. received ISO 14001:2015 environmental 
certification for the steel mill slag management, scrap cutting and metal 
recovery of the steelworks. In addition, Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l. has an ISO 
9001:2015 certified quality management system since 2023.

Safety

Occupational safety is a central part of Tapojärvi’s values, operations and 
personnel policy. In safety management, the company emphasise proacti-
ve safety work, which is continuously monitored through the SAF frequen-
cy meter. The company measures its performance by various indicators of 
accident frequency. Monitoring safety at work and dealing with incidents 
are part of daily work, which is carried out in close cooperation with the 
clients. All accidents and incidents are investigated, and efforts are
made to identify the root causes.

Indicator Target Outcome

TRIF <2,5 6.6

LTIF 0 3.3

SAF 10000 10704

Observations 11692

Safety infos 1292

Safety rounds 3048
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Significant events after the end of the  
financial period

New Service Contract with Agnico Eagle Finland in Kittilä

Tapojärvi strengthened its position as a provider of mining services by 
signing a new service contract with Agnico Eagle Finland. The contract, 
which began on January 1, 2025, covers underground mine loading and 
hauling operations, maintenance of the underground road network, and 
various support services at the Kittilä gold mine. The contract is valid for 
three years and includes an option for two additional years.

Termination of the Raahe Project and Employee Reassignment

The service contract at SSAB’s Raahe steel plant will come to an end at 
the end of April 2025. Tapojärvi did not win the tendering process, and 
operations will be transferred to another contractor. Tapojärvi is
strongly committed to reassigning employees to other positions within 
the group.

Tapojarvi Italia – Market Expansion of TapoEko Products

Tapojarvi Italia has continued to expand the sales of its circular econo-
my products in Italy. The first product launched on the market, TapoEko 
Filler, has received positive feedback from both the industry and authori-
ties. Sales of the circular economy products are ongoing.
On March 10, 2025, a serious occupational accident occurred in Italy. The 
accident resulted in the death of an employee of Tapojarvi Italia. Tapo-
järvi Group is working closely with authorities to investigate the accident 
and is further developing its safety measures.

Open Innovation Challenge 2025

Tapojärvi launched an international innovation competition in coopera-
tion with EIT RawMaterials. The competition challenges European stu-
dents to develop new circular economy solutions, especially for
the reuse of mining and steel industry waste materials. 

Promoting Employee Well-being – New Staff Housing in Siilinjärvi

Tapojärvi has completed two new row house projects in Siilinjärvi for 
employee use. The housing aims to support occupational well-being. It 
makes accessing worksite easier for employees traveling to work from 
different regions, especially during long project periods.

Assessment of Likely Future Developments 
The company’s business outlook is stable. The markets in company’s 
business areas are positive. There are opportunities for growth in the 
company. Work is contract-based, and the contract base is solid and
long-term. The company must foster the competitiveness and agility and 
be able to offer cost-effective quality work to the customers.

The Scope of Research and Development Activities
Tapojärvi Group is involved in several domestic and international re-
search, development and innovation (RDI) projects in cooperation with 
industry, research institutes and companies. The group is actively see-
king new product and business opportunities. Opportunities lie especial-
ly in the circular economy of the forestry, construction, chemical, elect-
ronics, pyrometallurgical and mining industries, among other things, by 
cross-utilizing the side streams of these sectors.

The goal of the group’s RDI activities is to reduce the use of virgin raw 
materials by utilizing industrial side streams as circular economy pro-
ducts. The benefits of the circular economy are directly visible in
groups’ environmental impacts, well-being at work, safety and economy.
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Improving resource efficiency:
The circular economy minimises waste and improves resource use,  
reducing the extraction of new raw materials and dependence on  
limited natural resources. 

Reducing environmental impacts: 
By reducing waste and optimising the use of materials, the circular  
economy reduces greenhouse gas emissions, pollution and  
overconsumption of natural resources. 

Economic growth and employment:s 
The circular economy creates new business opportunities and markets 
for recycling, reuse and resource-efficient products and services, creating 
jobs and economic growth. 

Fostering innovation and competitiveness: 
Resource-efficient and innovative products and processes improve  
competitiveness in both national and international markets. 

Risk management: 
Reduces operational risks by reducing dependence on limited natural 
resources and fluctuations in raw material markets 

Social welfare: 
Promotes social welfare by providing access to quality, sustainable pro-
ducts and services.  

Protecting ecosystems and conserving biodiversity: 
More efficient use of resources reduces pressure on the natural environ-
ment and contributes to biodiversity conservation.

During the financial year, EUR 3.9 million was spent on the group’s 
research, development and innovation activities (2.3 % of the group’s 
revenue). Public support for RDI activities amounted to EUR 0.7 million. 

Key development projects during the financial year  
included:
UPM’s side stream utilization and the TapoEko cement plant

•	 Tapojärvi develops low-carbon cement products from side streams 
originating from UPM’s paper mills. It is a unique circular economy 
solution globally.

•	 During the year 2024, production planning and profitability calcula-
tions were carried out. The plant’s permitting process began in May 
2024.

•	 The first products were tested in a potential application.

Construction of a new mixing and concrete plant began in Keminmaa
•	 Development and manufacturing of new low-carbon binders

First commercial deliveries of circular economy products in Terni
•	 Slag-based filler as a substitute for Portland-cement.

The new research center in Oulu opened in May 2024
•	 The goal is to accelerate the commercialization of innovations
•	 Aims to strengthen the company’s research capacity and develop 

measurements and applications for industrial side streams

Patents and new innovations
•	 A patent application was filed for belite cement developed in collabo-

ration with UPM.

Zero Mine Solutions joint venture company established in November
•	 Tapojärvi Oy founded a company focusing on the hydrometallurgical 

processing of e-waste (WEEE) together with Alva-yhtiöt Oy and Elker 
Oy.

•	 Urban mining concept, which acts as an extension of traditional mi-
ning operations.

•	 An application was submitted for a strategic positioned project under 
the EU’s Critical Raw Materials Act (CRMA)

•	 A pre-feasibility study was conducted by an external party on the 
WEEE chemistry module
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Innovative processes and testing
•	 In collaboration with Emeritus Professor Kauko Kujala, a pilot-scale 

friction angle measurement method was developed, which impro-
ves the representativeness of similar laboratory tests.

•	 The first measurements for a Finnish customer in mining industry 
were successfully carried out.

Risks and uncertainties
The most significant risks and uncertainties in relation to the scope and 
structure of the company’s operations are:

Strategic risks 

Competition in the business area markets is fierce. The work is mainly ba-
sed on fixed-term contracts that largely are long-term. Due to the interna-
tionalisation of business operations, the risk arising from new geographical 
market areas may affect the company’s operations.
Tapojärvi Oy’s dependence on a limited number of customers may cause 
manageable risks related to business volume.

Technological development and stricter environmental legislation are op-
portunities for the company’s growth, but they can also be strategic risks. 
Regarding to industrial circular economy solutions the company is constant-
ly dealing with new things. In most cases, the authorities require various
investigations or permits. The permit authorities do not have precedents, 
which may slow down the commercialisation of Tapojärvi’s innovative soluti-
ons. 

Operational risks

•	 dependency on staff’s competence and availability
•	 unusual cyclical fluctuations in demand
•	 disruptions in supply chains due to extended delivery times
•	 fluctuations in the availability and price of raw materials and other 

production factors

Financial risks

The objective of the company’s financial risk management is to ensu-
re continuity and predictability of access to financing. The price risk of 
long-term contracts is managed through index-linkages. Liquidity risk 
is managed by various means of sufficient cash buffer, credit insurance 
and working capital financing. 

Risk of damage

Operational risks are covered by operational liability insurance and, in 
some activities, by specific activity liability insurance. The company’s 
equipment is insured against accidents, and risk management in case 
of interruptions has also been covered through comprehensive backup 
fleet. The risk of interruption of operations is diversified since the com-
pany operates in several separate work sites.

Other uncertainties

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has had an adverse impact on the European 
economy. Tapojärvi Group does not provide services in either country 
and has not purchased materials or spare parts from them. However, 
the group is exposed to the indirect effects of the war. After the outb-
reak of war, the first effect was the increase in fuel prices. As the war 
prolongs, the general rise in the cost level and the availability and price 
of energy will affect the volumes of industrial production. There are also 
impacts on the supply chains, availability and prices of equipment, spare 
parts, and materials. This requires active monitoring and measures.

Financial information and key figures 
The parent company’s net revenue for the financial year was EUR 139 
million (2023: 131.2). Operating profit EUR 19.9 million was 14.32 % 
(2023: 11,60 %) of the net revenue. The return on equity was 22,9 %
(2023: 21,1 %) and the equity ratio was 31,70 % (2023: 32,7 %).
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The group’s net revenue was EUR 194.1 million (2023: 171.1). Operating 
profit EUR 20.9 million was 10.75 % (2023: 9.30 %) of the net revenue. 
The return on equity was 24.20 % (2023: 22.0 %) and the equity ratio
was 28.20 % (2023: 29 %).
 

Key figures and other information about 
personnel  
At the date of the balance sheet, the parent company employed 697 
(2023: 621) people, of whom 533 were employees and 164 white-collar 
workers, including supervisors.
The group employed 911 (2023: 781) people, of whom 694 were emplo-
yees and 217 white-collar workers, including supervisors. The average 
age of group’s employees was 40 years. In relative terms, the largest
age group is those aged 30 to 50. Of the group’s personnel 5 % are 
women and 95 % men. Of the group’s personnel 52 % work as machine 
operators, 15 % in maintenance tasks, 9 % in supervision of work and
5 % as process workers.

The parent company paid EUR 36.6 million in wages and salaries (2023: 
32.70). The group paid EUR 45,9 million in wages and salaries (2023: 
39.4).

Key figures and other information on envi-
ronmental impacts
Ts a rule, group’s operations are subject to the environmental permits 
of the clients. The group operates in the fields of heavy industry, mining 
industry, and industrial circular economy. The group is aware that the 
operations have both negative and positive environmental impacts. The 
group values the purity of nature and develops its operations in conti-
nuous cooperation with customers, utilising available technology.
The sustainability activities are based on commitment to the UN Global 
Compact initiative and to upholding its ten principles.
In corporate responsibility work of the financial year, the group continued 
to implement its sustainability program. The program focuses on three 
main themes: circular economy and the environment, personnel and sa-
fety, and customer satisfaction and reliability.
In 2024, the group updated its environmental, occupational health and 
safety policies and constructed a code of conduct for our employees as a 
basis for responsible behaviour.
To assess environmental impacts and how sustainability factors affect 
the group, a double materiality analysis was carried out in collaboration 
with Upright Oy. The group operates in an energy-intensive sector, so the 
results emphasize ability to promote energy efficiency and minimize the 
greenhouse gas emissions in group’s operations. These results also help 
prepare for the future mandatory sustainability reporting.
In spring 2024, Tapojärvi started using biofuels at worksites in Tornio and 
Kemi. At central maintenance workshop in Keminmaa, newly installed so-
lar panels also started producing energy, which will partly cover the work-
shop’s energy needs in the future.
For the first time, the group also calculated their carbon footprint in ac-
cordance with the GHG Protocol, and the calculations were verified by 
Greenstep Oy. 
The group’s positive impact on the environment comes through circular 
economy business activities. In 2024, the group processed around 920000 
tonnes of material in Tornio and Terni, of which 64% was recovered as 
metals and various mineral products.

Leased employee Total

Temporary 11 84

Full-time 11 77

Part-time 7

Permanent 4 827

Full-time 4 818

Part-time 9

Management 16

White-collar employees 118

Supervisers 83

Employees 694

Personnel 911
Tapojärvi Oy 697

Hannukainen Mining Oy 7

Tapojärvi Sverige Ab 70

Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l 106

Tapojarvi Hellas M.I.K.E. 16

Leased employee 15

5 % 95 % Average age

40
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In terms of environmental impacts related to pollution, the group’s 
goal is zero harm. There were no significant environmental accidents in 
group’s operations during the financial year.
The construction of a mixing and concrete plant was started for RDI pro-
ducts in Keminmaa. The aim is to develop and manufacture new low-car-
bon binders.

The number of shares in the company by share class and the main 
provisions of the Articles of Association concerning each class of 
shares

The company has a total of 15,000 shares, 6,000 class A shares, 3,000 
class B shares and 6,000 class C shares.

•	 Series A shares confer all rights under the Finnish Companies Act. 
The shares carry 1 vote per share.

•	 Class B shares entitle the holder to dividends and other apportioned 
shares when distributing the company’s assets, but not to voting 
rights at the annual general meeting. 

•	 Series C shares carry the right to dividends, but they are not entitled 
to any other distribution of the company’s assets or voting rights. 

 
The redemption clause applies to class A and class B shares. The compa-
ny does not hold any of its own shares.

Treasury stocks

The company does not hold or pledge Tapojärvi Oy’s own shares.. 

Main loan terms and conditions of subordinated dept and accrued 
interest on loans not recognised as an expense

Group’s companies do not have subordinated loans.

Foreign branches of the company

The company has no foreign branches.

Structural and financial arrangements 

There have been no structural or financial arrangements referred to in 
the Finnish Companies Act during the financial year.

Related-party loans and liabilities

The company has provided loans and guarantees to both the group and 
related companies. More detailed information on cash loans, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities to the company’s related parties can be found 
in Note 5.

Company organisation, management and auditors

The members of the Board of Directors elected by the Annual General 
Meeting on April 9th, 2024, have been Pertti Tapojärvi, Mauri Kauppi and 
Tuomo Tuohino. The Chairman of the Board has been Markku Tapojärvi. 
The acting CEO has been Mari Pilventö.
The company’s auditor has been firm of authorised public accountants 
Ernst & Young Oy, with Jari Karppinen, APA, as the auditor with principal 
responsibility.

The Board of Directors’ proposal for measures concerning the 
company’s profit and a proposal for a possible distribution of other 
unrestricted equity. 

2023 2024 2023 2024

Scope 1 58 192 63 050 Finland 72 573 70 677

Scope 2   9 482 9 480 Italy 13 003 13 512

Scope 3 19 138 22 464 Sweden 1 236 9 693

Greece 0 1 112

Kokonaispäästöt
(tCO2e)

86 812 94 994

Hiili-intensiteetti
(tCO2e)

507 489



44

The parent company’s distributable funds in the financial statements 
amount to EUR 62.713.220 of which the profit for the financial year is 
EUR 12.176.913.

No material changes have taken place in the company’s financial position 
since the end of the financial year. The company’s liquidity is good, and, 
in the view of the Board of Directors, the proposed distribution
of profit will not jeopardise the company’s solvency. The Board of Dire-
ctors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 
5.021.094, i.e. EUR 334,74 per share, to be paid for the financial
year.

Key figures

Formulas for key figures
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This is the first standalone sustainability report by Tapojärvi, 
covering data for the 2024 reporting year.

The report is voluntary and follows the structure of the Euro-
pean Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS).

Sustainability Report2024
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Sustainable development is a fundamental pillar of 
Tapojärvi’s operations. While Tapojärvi operates at 
the core of industry, our thinking extends beyond 
— to the environment and society as a whole. We 
utilize industrial side streams, develop circular eco-
nomy products, and invest in a safe, skilled, and well-
being-oriented work community. 
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1. General Disclosures

1.1. Basis of preparation
This is Tapojärvi’s first standalone sustainability report, and covering 
data from the reporting year 2024. The report is voluntary and follows 
the structure of the european sustainability reporting standards (ESRS).

The purpose of this report is to strengthen our preparedness to meet 
the reporting requirements of the corporate sustainability reporting dire-
ctive (CSRD) and to provide a clear, comparable, and well-substantiated 
overview of Tapojärvi’s sustainability-related impacts, risks, opportuni-
ties, and actions.

Scope of the report
The scope of the report aligns with tapojärvi’s consolidated financial 
statements and covers the group’s operations in finland, sweden, italy, 
and greece. Consequently, Tapojärvi’s subsidiaries do not publish sepa-
rate sustainability reports. In addition to our own operations, this report 
includes information from both the upstream and downstream ends of 
our value chain. As part of the double materiality assessment, impacts, 
risks, and opportunities have also been evaluated in relation to the value 
chain.

Time horizons
Time horizons
In line with the esrs, sustainability aspects are considered across three 
time horizons:
•	 Short-term: current and following year
•	 Medium-term: up to five years
•	 Long-term: beyond five years

Where available, quantitative indicators are presented for both 2024 and 
the preceding year.

Limitations and uncertainty of estimate
Tapojärvi operates as a subcontractor in the mining and steel industries, 
typically on sites managed by the client. In these environments, many 
responsibilities are held by the client, including environmental permit-
ting, site infrastructure (e.G., Electricity and water supply), waste mana-
gement, regulatory reporting, and stakeholder communication.
This division of responsibilities affects Tapojärvi’s assessment of the 
materiality of various sustainability themes, as well as the availability 
and consistency of the related data. Any such limitations are described 
in more detail under the respective sustainability topics throughout the 
report.
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1.2. Governance
Tapojärvi is a Finnish family-owned limited liability company, operating 
under the laws of Finland. The Tapojärvi Group consists of the parent 
company Tapojärvi Oy and its subsidiaries Tapojärvi Sverige AB, Tapojar-
vi Italia S.r.l and Tapojarvi Hellas M.I.K.E.

Governing bodies
Tapojärvi Oy’s governing bodies include the General Meeting of Share-
holders, the Board of Directors, the Acting CEO, and the Management 
Team. In 2024, the Board of Directors consisted of four members, two 
of whom were independent. All board members were male. The Mana-
gement Team comprised 12 members responsible for the company’s 
business areas and support functions, including two women. At present, 
employee representatives are not included in these governance bodies.

The Board of Directors is responsible for approving the Group’s strategy 
and long-term objectives, and for overseeing their implementation. It 
also participates in the assessment and supervision of key risks and op-
portunities, in cooperation with the investment, finance, and accounting 
teams. The Management Team is responsible for leading and developing 
the Group’s operations in accordance with the strategy and objectives 
defined by the Board.

Sustainability governance
The Board annually approves and reviews Tapojärvi’s sustainability com-
mitment and direction. The Management Team approves sustainability 
principles, roadmaps, and targets. The sustainability team is responsible 
for implementing the roadmaps, as well as guiding and consulting busi-
ness area and support function leaders in the execution of sustainability 
actions.

Sustainability-linked incentives
At Tapojärvi, performance incentives linked to sustainability targets are 
tied to proactive safety work, the fulfilment of occupational safety res-
ponsibilities, and the reduction of accident frequency. These sustainabi-
lity-related goals account for 40% of the management’s performance-ba-
sed bonus scheme. Employees are also eligible for a separate monthly 
safety bonus.

1.3. Strategy, business model and  
        value chain
Tapojärvi’s strategy is built around long-term objectives aimed at achie-
ving profitable growth, strengthening competitiveness, and advancing 
sustainable development—both domestically and internationally.
The company’s operations are grounded in deep expertise in mining ser-
vices and industrial circular economy solutions, which are systematically 
expanded into new markets. Tapojärvi strives to be the preferred ser-
vice partner for its customers by combining environmental awareness, 
technological know-how, and operational efficiency.

Strategic cornerstones:
•	 Safety and employee well-being: Tapojärvi recognizes that a safe 

and healthy workforce is the foundation of long-term success. The 
strategy includes a strong commitment to improving occupational 
safety and to engaging and training employees at all levels.

•	 International growth: the company actively seeks opportunities 
to expand in the mining and circular economy sectors. Internatio-
nalisation is pursued deliberately, in alignment with the company’s 
values and core competencies.

•	 Technology and digitalisation: the use of modern technologies, 
automation, and digital tools is a key element of tapojärvi’s compe-
titive advantage. The strategy guides investments in machinery in 
accordance with the best available techniques (bat) principle, and 
data is actively leveraged to optimise operational performance.

•	 Innovation and r&d: Tapojärvi allocates 2–4% of its annual revenue 
to research and development projects. The strategy emphasises the 
development of technologies and products that support circularity, 
aiming to reduce environmental impact while simultaneously gro-
wing the business.

•	 Long-term partnerships: the company invests in building and 
maintaining customer relationships based on trust and co-creation. 
Such partnerships foster a predictable operating environment and 
enable the continuous improvement of services and processes for 
mutual benefit.
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Business model and value chain
Tapojärvi’s business model is built on three interrelated 
core areas: mining services, industrial circular economy, and 
TapoEko circular economy products. These areas are united 
by a strong customer-oriented approach, modern technology, 
resource efficiency, and continuous development.

Tapojärvi provides comprehensive services to mining com-
panies at both underground mines and open-pit sites. The 
services cover nearly all phases between drilling and ore 
crushing, as well as a variety of production support services.

The industrial circular economy business focuses on proces-
sing industrial side streams—particularly slag—into new 
recycled products. Services include slag cooling, screening, 
beneficiation, and productisation.

A common feature across all business areas is a solution- and 
customer-driven approach: services are carefully tailored to 
meet each client’s specific needs, with the goal of enhancing 
the customer’s own efficiency, sustainability, and competitive-
ness.

Tapojärvi’s in-house machinery fleet, maintenance organi-
sation, laboratories, and mixing plant support this business 
model by providing the required self-sufficiency and ability to 
respond rapidly to operational needs.

The company’s business model is designed to support gro-
wth, efficiency, and responsibility—combining stable cash 
flow from mining services, growth drivers from industrial 
circular economy, and future potential through TapoEko 
products.
This multi-layered structure strengthens Tapojärvi’s resilience 
and enables agile responses to changes in the market and 
regulatory environment.
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1.4. Materiality Assessment

Materiality assessment process

Tapojärvi’s double materiality assessment was 
based on a data- and science-driven metho-
dology developed by upright oy. As input data, 
tapojärvi provided information on its products 
and services, suppliers, human resources, and 
the geographical distribution of all these ele-
ments, along with other indicators potentially 
influencing materiality.

In the second phase of the process, the data 
model analysed the materiality of each sustai-
nability topic using extensive third-party data-
bases and a corpus of over 250 million scientific 
articles. The assessment considered the scale, 
severity, irremediability, and likelihood of po-
tential impacts.

No separate stakeholder surveys were conduct-
ed to complement the assessment. Instead, ta-
pojärvi made use of previously collected survey 
data from employees and customers. Finally, 
the results of the scientific analysis were com-
pared with the survey findings, and the final 
materiality decisions were made by tapojärvi’s 
sustainability team.

Key impacts, risks, and opportunities

Based on the double materiality assessment, 
tapojärvi’s most significant impacts on the 
environment and society, as well as key sustai-

nability-related risks and opportunities, are 
linked to the following topics: 

•	 climate change
•	 pollution
•	 water resources
•	 resource use
•	 circular economy
•	 own workforce
•	 business conduct

Material impacts were also identified in rela-
tion to biodiversity and ecosystems, workers 
in the value chain, and affected communities. 
However, these topics were excluded from 
the scope of this report in accordance with 
applicable transitional provisions and volun-
tary disclosure allowances.
A summary table of the identified key im-
pacts, risks and opportunities is presented 
on the following page. 

Interaction between material topics, 
strategy and business model

Sustainability — particularly occupational 
and environmental safety — is integrated 
into the core of tapojärvi’s operations, stra-
tegy, and business model.
In line with our operational policy, we are 
committed to providing a safe working envi-
ronment and minimising the negative envi-
ronmental impacts of our activities.
Our goal is zero harm.
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Safety as a foundational value

Safety is the first and foremost of tapojärvi’s 
core values, underscoring its strategic and 
day-to-day importance in all our operations. 
Safety is built through small, everyday actions 
and decisions, and success in this area enables 
us to operate in the value chains of the mining 
and steel industries, where inherent risks are 
significantly higher than in many other sectors.

Every failure in safety—or in preventing 
work-related illnesses—is deeply impactful on 
an individual level, and also leads to both dire-
ct and indirect costs for the business.

Tapojärvi’s operations are grounded in full 
compliance with all applicable laws, regula-
tions, and permit requirements. As a specialist 
in mining services and materials handling, we 
recognise the environmental impacts of our 
operations and are fully committed to sustai-
nable practices across all areas of activity. We 
aim to lead the development of the industrial 
circular economy. Our circular solutions help 
reduce the use of virgin raw materials and 
lower the carbon footprint of the value chain. 
Sustainability is viewed not only as a competiti-
ve advantage, but as a prerequisite for long-
term business continuity.

Environmental regulation, technological ad-
vancements, and market shifts have a direct 
impact on our business. Tapojärvi actively 
participates in product and technology deve-
lopment projects and seeks to utilise available 
funding instruments for these initiatives. We 
make long-term investments in hybrid equip-

ment, digital solutions, and side-stream processing, 
while prioritising operational efficiency and the 
added value generated through sustainability. Our 
sustainability efforts support our customers’ climate 
and responsibility goals. Alongside fossil fuels, we 
offer the option to use renewable fuels and alterna-
tive energy sources.

As our operations continue to expand and interna-
tionalise, tapojärvi’s strategy and business model 
must place increasing emphasis on good governan-
ce, compliance across different operational areas 
and countries, and the implementation of anti-cor-
ruption measures. These efforts are essential to 
minimise reputational and financial risks.
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E1 Climate Change

Impact/Risk/Opportunity Description Source

Positive impact Tapojärvi’s circular economy services reduce the need for virgin raw materials, thereby lowering energy demand 
and emissions in their production value chains.

Own operations

Negative impact Tapojärvi’s beneficiation plants and mobile equipment, as well as the value chains of the mining and steel in-
dustries, consume significant amounts of energy and generate substantial greenhouse gas emissions.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Opportunity Lower risk premiums and access to green financing for companies mitigating climate change. Revenue potential 
as customer demand shifts toward resource-efficient and low-emission solutions.

Own operations

Risk The transition to a low-carbon economy may present risks if employees, authorities, investors or customers react 
negatively to insufficient climate action or operations in high-emission sectors.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

E2 Pollution

Impact/Risk/Opportunity Description Source

Positive impact Circular economy services reduce the need for virgin materials and energy, thereby lowering emissions and other 
pollution resulting from their production.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Negative impact Tapojärvi’s operations may cause harmful air and particle emissions. In the event of leaks or insufficient water 
treatment, industrial chemicals and heavy metals may enter water or soil.

Own operations

Risk New legislation and tightening environmental standards may increase costs due to required investments or higher 
financing costs.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

E3 Water Resources

Impact/Risk/Opportunity Description Source

Negative impact Tapojärvi’s own operations and the value chains of the mining and steel industries use significant volumes of water in 
water-risk areas. Waste, process, and industrial water may lead to emissions and burdens on water bodies.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Risk Dependence on freshwater creates a risk of limited availability and rising costs. Stricter water discharge limits may 
increase capital costs.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain
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E5 Circular Economy

Impact/Risk/Opportunity Description Source

Positive impact Tapojärvi’s circular economy services enable the reuse of slag, recovered metals and other materials in accordance 
with circular economy principles.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Negative impact Materials destined for final disposal and hazardous waste generated in operations may cause negative environmental 
and health impacts if not properly or adequately handled.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Opportunity Circular solutions allow for the utilisation of industrial side streams in product manufacturing and material reuse, 
while also improving raw material selection toward more sustainable alternatives.

Own operations

Risk Dependency on fossil fuels and other raw materials poses risks of resource scarcity. Regulations concerning resource 
use, waste, and side-stream management may increase costs.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

S1 Own Workforce

Impact/Risk/Opportunity Description Source

Negative impact Tapojärvi’s operations and its linkage to the mining and steel industries expose the workforce to higher risks of occu-
pational accidents and diseases. The male-dominated nature of these sectors may also amplify challenges related to 
gender equality, pay gaps, and workplace harassment.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Risk Regulations and reporting obligations related to the promotion of employee health, safety, equality, and equal pay 
may increase operational costs.

Own operations

G1 Business Conduct

Impact/Risk/Opportunity Description Source

Negative impact While no misconduct has been identified, insufficient anti-corruption practices may expose the company to corruption 
and bribery risks, which are widely recognised as elevated in the mining sector.

Own operations; upstream and  
downstream value chain

Risk Authorities may require updated reporting procedures and the implementation of additional anti-corruption and 
anti-bribery measures through new legislation, potentially increasing operating costs.

Own operations



2. Environmental Disclosures

 

Tapojärvi reduces environmental impact by utilising industrial side streams, 
developing low-carbon products, and investing in electric equipment and 
renewable energy.
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2.1. Climate Change

Operating principles
Tapojärvi is committed to promoting energy efficiency in line with te-
chnological progress as outlined in its environmental policy. The com-
pany actively pursues energy-efficient solutions and collaborates with 
customers and other partners to integrate the latest technologies and 
cleaner fuel alternatives wherever possible, in order to reduce its carbon 
footprint.

Tapojärvi’s business operations are based on multi-year contract agree-
ments, which require investment in machinery and equipment tailored 
to the defined scope of services. These investments are made through 
comprehensive techno-economic evaluations that follow the best 
available techniques (bat) principle. As a result, most of tapojärvi’s new 
equipment represents the highest available environmental and energy 
performance standards.

To support climate change mitigation, tapojärvi has invested in slag 
treatment technologies and the development of circular economy 
products. The tapoeko product family is expected to grow into a third 
business pillar alongside mining services and industrial circular economy 
operations.

Through our investments in industrial circular economy and product 
development, tapojärvi aims to contribute to climate change mitigation 
by generating a positive handprint effect.

Actions and resources
Tapojärvi has not yet developed a formal transition plan for climate 
change mitigation or a specific action plan for reducing energy consump-
tion and emissions. However, progress is made through practical measu-
res that align with our environmental policy.

The most significant climate-related impacts of tapojärvi’s operations 
result from fuel use (mobile equipment) and electricity consumption (be-
neficiation plants). Decarbonisation efforts primarily relate to the choice 
of fuels, the origin of electricity, and decisions regarding the shift toward 
low-emission energy sources.

At most sites, fuels and electricity are procured either directly from supp-
liers selected by the customer or via the customer, meaning energy-relat-
ed decisions are made jointly. In 2024, tapojärvi transitioned to biofuels 
at its kemi mine and tornio site, and solar panels installed at the kemin-
maa central maintenance facility began generating renewable electricity.

While energy choices have the greatest influence on emissions, techno-
logy decisions also play a role. Environmental aspects are considered as 
part of the techno-economic assessment of new machinery purchases.

Technology choices are sometimes made in collaboration with custo-
mers and always with the operational environment in mind, especially 
site-specific infrastructure and constraints.

Tapojärvi actively monitors the development of electric vehicle techno-
logies and battery innovations. We work closely with leading equipment 
manufacturers and are actively involved in piloting and adopting the 
latest technologies. In 2024, tapojärvi commissioned europe’s first hybrid 
loading machines.

Other practical decarbonisation measures include optimising driving 
behaviour, minimising idling, and improving energy efficiency at benefi-
ciation plants and facilities.

Targets and metrics
Tapojärvi has not yet set specific targets for achieving carbon neutrality 
or improving energy efficiency. However, we closely monitor both energy 
consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, and we aim to achieve pro-
gress in terms of intensity-based performance indicators.
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Energy consumption and energy mix

Tapojärvi operates in energy-intensive industries, and energy derived 
from fossil sources constitutes the majority of total energy consumption, 
primarily through the use of liquid fuels.
The table below presents Tapojärvi’s energy consumption broken down 
by energy source.

MWh 2023 2024

Fuels from coal and coal products 0 0

Fuels from crude oil and oil products 222 904 243 460

Fuel from natural gas 0 0

Fuels from other fossil sources 0 0

Purchased or acquired electricity and heat from fossil sources 25 312 24 676

Total fossil energy consumption 248 216 268 136

Share of fossil energy sources in total energy consumption 96 % 93 %

Energy from nuclear sources 2 307 2 132

Share of nuclear energy in total consumption 1 % 1 %

Fuels from renewable sources 6 282 17 212

Purchased or acquired electricity and heat from renewable sour-
ces

2 248 2 259

Self-generated renewable energy consumption 0 41

Total renewable energy consumption 8 530 19 512

Share of renewable energy sources in total consumption 3 % 7 %

Total energy consumption 259 053 289 738

Energy Intensity 2023 2024

Revenue (M€) 171 194

Energy Intensity (MWh / M€) 1 514 1 493

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2023 2024 Change
Scope 1 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Scope 1 Gross Emissions 58 192 63 050 8 %

Scope 2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Scope 2 Market-Based Gross Emissions 9 482 9 480 0 %

Scope 2 Location-Based Gross Emissions 6 810 7 104 4 %

Scope 3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Upstream Emissions (Before the Organization)

#1 Purchased Goods and Services 3 829 5 106 33 %

#2 Capital Goods N/A N/A N/A

#3 Fuel- and Energy-Related Activities (not included 
in Scope 1 or 2)

13 544 14 762 9 %

#4 Upstream Transportation and Distribution N/A N/A N/A

#5 Waste Generated in Operations (including was-
tewater)

1 338 1 802 35 %

#6 Business Travel 191 570 198 %

#7 Employee Commuting 236 224 -5 %

#8 Upstream Leased Assets N/A N/A N/A

Downstream Emissions (After the Organization)

#9 Downstream Transportation and Distribution N/A N/A N/A

#10 Processing of Sold Products N/A N/A N/A

#11 Use of Sold Products N/A N/A N/A

#12 End-of-Life Treatment of Sold Products N/A N/A N/A

#13 Downstream Leased Assets N/A N/A N/A

#14 Franchises N/A N/A N/A

#15 Investments N/A N/A N/A

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Total Emissions (Market-Based) 86 812 94 994 9 %

Total Emissions (Location-Based) 84 140 92 618 10 %
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The calculation is based on a number of assumptions. Most of the electricity 
used is not sourced directly from energy producers but is instead supplied via 
customer companies. As no energy source breakdown has been available for 
this intermediary electricity, the calculation has been based on country-specific 
residual mixes. For district heating, the calculation has been performed using 
supplier-specific production mixes.

In 2024, Tapojärvi’s Scope 1 emissions amounted to 63,050 tonnes of 
CO2equivalent (66 %), Scope 2 market-based emissions to 9,480 tonnes 
CO2equivalent (10%), and Scope 3 emissions to 22,464 tonnes CO2equiva-
lent (24 %).
The total greenhouse gas emissions for Tapojärvi in 2024 were 94,994 
tonnes of CO2equivalent.

Biogenic Emissions

In 2024, biogenic emissions from the use of biofuels totalled 4,680 tonnes 
of CO2equivalent. Emission factors from the UK Department for Environ-
ment, Food & Rural Affairs (Defra) were used in the calculation.

Emissions Intensity

Tapojärvi monitors greenhouse gas emissions relative to revenue.
The intensity is expressed as tonnes of CO2equivalentper million euros of 
revenue.

Methodologies and Assumptions
Greenhouse gas emissions have been calculated and reported in accor-
dance with the GHG Protocol.
The 2023 calculation was third-party verified, and the 2024 calculation 
was conducted using the same principles and methods.
Scope 1 includes direct emissions from Tapojärvi’s own vehicles (liquid 
fuels, refrigerants) and facilities (cutting and welding gases, emissions 
from the use of explosives during detonation). 

Emissions were calculated based on fuel and material consumption. 
Defra emission factors were used for fuels. Explosives-related emissions 
were calculated using emission factors provided by suppliers. Gas emis-
sions were calculated based on carbon content. There are no material 
limitations in the Scope 1 emission calculations.

Scope 2 includes purchased electricity and heat used at Tapojärvi’s own 
premises. Supplier-specific emission factors were applied to electricity 
and heat consumption data.
Approximately 95 % of the electricity used is supplied via customer 
organisations. In these cases, customer-provided emission factors were 
applied.
Electricity consumption of mining equipment is not invoiced or reported,
as available metering does not accurately distinguish users or devices.
There are no other material limitations related to Scope 2 emission cal-
culations.

The following material Scope 3 categories have been included, based on 
the availability of sufficiently reliable data:
#1 Purchased goods and services (e.g. water, production and process 
chemicals, tyres, explosives, other materials), #3 Fuel- and energy-relat-
ed activities (e.g. energy production emissions, transmission and distri-
bution losses), #5 Waste and wastewater; #6 Business travel (air travel); 
#7 Employee commuting (based on mileage and travel reimbursements)

Emission factors used in Scope 3 calculations were obtained from Supp-
liers, Authorities, Trusted emission factor databases, The largest assump-
tions were required for chemicals and waste emissions. In total, 96 % of 
data used was measured, and 4 % estimated.

Two additional material Scope 3 categories were identified:
    #2 Capital goods
    #4 Upstream transportation and distribution

However, these were excluded due to insufficient consumption data and 
a lack of reliable emission factors.

As a service provider, Tapojärvi’s Scope 3 emissions are largely upstream,
and downstream emissions (categories #9–#15) are considered non-ma-
terial.

Greenhouse Gas Intensity Relative to  
Revenue 2023 2024 Muutos

Emission Intensity (Market-Based, tCO2-eq / M€) 507 489 -4 %

Emission Intensity (Location-Based, tCO2-eq / M€) 492 477 -3 %
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2.2. Pollution

Operating principles
Tapojärvi’s operational policy emphasizes delivering services and prod-
ucts that meet customer needs, with the aim of achieving customer satis-
faction as well as sustainable and profitable business operations. 
Our environmental policy reflects a commitment to excellence in envi-
ronmental protection. In line with this policy, we reduce our environ-
mental impact by preventing contamination and emissions into soil, air, 
and water. We aim to avoid the use of substances of concern and, where 
feasible, gradually phase out substances of very high concern.

Tapojärvi seeks to prevent environmental deviations through proactive, 
risk-based environmental management. In the event of a deviation, 
immediate measures are taken to mitigate potential environmental im-
pacts. If soil or water is contaminated, tapojärvi takes action to remedy 
the adverse effects and restore the environment as close as possible to 
its pre-incident condition.

Actions and resources

Prevention of air, water, and soil contamination

Tapojärvi continuously implements defined preventive measures to avoid 
environmental contamination. These include regular inspections of machin-
ery and equipment, scheduled preventive maintenance, the acquisition of 
spill response equipment, and personnel training in managing exceptional 
situations. 
Site-specific guidelines are in place for responding to deviations, such as 
procedures for handling fluid leaks and controlled shutdowns of enrich-
ment facilities under specific wind conditions.

Tapojärvi monitors discharges to water from its own production facilities. 
Wastewater is treated either in customer-owned or municipal treatment 

plants before being released into the environment. In mineral processing 
operations, we maintain and develop closed-loop systems that minimize 
water consumption and ensure the safe and efficient reuse of process wa-
ter. Additional process measures are in place to prevent pollution, ensuring 
the preservation of water bodies for future generations.

Emissions to soil typically arise from oil leaks and are monitored based on 
environmental deviation notifications. Other emissions are measured and 
analyzed in accordance with monitoring programs defined in environmental 
permits—either those of our customers or our own.

Substances of concern and substances of very high concern

Chemicals classified as substances of concern fall into specific hazard 
classes as defined by the reach and clp regulations (classification, label-
ling and packaging, eu regulation 1272/2008).

We regularly assess the chemicals we use to identify substances of con-
cern, ensure proper classification, and label them in accordance with clp 
requirements. We also invest in the development of safer alternatives 
and processes and report to the authorities in compliance with reach 
registration and clp labelling obligations.

Objectives and indicators

In accordance with our operational policy, we aim to minimize the 
negative environmental impacts of our operations. Our objective is zero 
harm.

All tapojärvi sites identify significant emission sources and monitor and 
control related emissions and pollutants, including their trends over 
time. The monitored substances vary based on site size and activity. 
The purpose is to ensure that emissions remain within the limits set by 
applicable legislation, contracts, and both tapojärvi’s and its customers’ 
environmental permits. In 2024, no incidents involving soil or water 
contamination with significant environmental impact were reported that 
could not be remedied through corrective action.
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2.3. Water resources and marine resources

Operating principles
We recognize the potential negative impacts of water use on the environ-
ment and biodiversity, particularly at our sites located in water-stressed 
regions.

Tapojärvi is committed through its environmental policy to adhering to 
the highest standards of water resource management. In all processes 
that use or interact with water, we continue to develop water-saving 
innovations, maintain our closed-loop systems, and ensure that robust 
pollution prevention measures are in place. This policy guides all our 
operations that involve interaction with water.

Our operations are primarily conducted at customer-owned sites, where 
water use is governed either by the customer’s environmental permit 
or by tapojärvi’s own permit. Tapojärvi complies fully with these permit 
conditions and works in close cooperation with the customer.

At customer sites, the customer is generally responsible for stakeholder 
and authority engagement as well as broader aquatic monitoring. An 
exception to this is the keminmaa central workshop, where tapojärvi 
conducts its own water monitoring.

Some tapojärvi sites are located in water risk areas, where water availa-
bility is limited and usage may have significant environmental impacts. 
Certain regions experience water stress, which imposes strict constraints 
on water consumption. Tapojärvi promotes responsible water manage-
ment and environmentally sound practices aimed at reducing the bur-
den on aquatic ecosystems and ensuring sustainable water use.
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Measures and resources
We work closely with our customers and partners to develop effective 
water resource management solutions.

An illustrative example is the closed-loop water system at the terni 
enrichment plant, which represents a technological solution designed to 
optimize water use in processes and reduce the need for raw water. The 
system decreases the load on aquatic ecosystems and supports tapojär-
vi’s environmental responsibility objectives.

Measures for establishing closed-loop water circulation have been 
designed and implemented by experienced professionals. These soluti-
ons take into account both environmental considerations and business 
needs, supporting the broader goals of sustainable development.

At the keminmaa central workshop, water is currently not recirculated. 
Instead, used water is routed through oil separators and other treatment 
systems before being discharged into wells. Water quality is monitored 
four times per year.

Quarterly water samples are analyzed to detect changes and potential 
deviations in quality. Water management is further supported through 
technical measures. The most significant identified risks relate to the 
potential release of chemicals—such as oils—into the sewer system or 
nearby water bodies.

Tapojärvi monitors water consumption at its sites in collaboration with 
technical staff and maintenance managers. Consumption is tracked as 
part of operational activities, and detailed monitoring is enabled through 
metering equipment. These systems have been improved over time, 
enhancing monitoring capabilities and providing a solid foundation for 
setting and achieving future water management targets. Deviations are 
detected quickly, and prompt corrective action is taken.

Objectives and indicators
Tapojärvi has not established specific measurable targets for water con-
sumption. However, water use is monitored at sites where consumption 
is significant and where metering allows for consumption to be distin-
guished and tracked. The most water-intensive sites include the washing 
halls in raahe and keminmaa, as well as the enrichment plants in tornio 
and terni.

At mining sites, the water used by tapojärvi generally does not incur 
direct costs, and it is not feasible for tapojärvi to independently record 
or monitor its water consumption. Nonetheless, even in these cases, 
tapojärvi seeks to optimize water use as part of its broader responsibility 
efforts. Water consumption at these sites is considered as part of the 
customer’s total water use.

Water consumption from tapojärvi’s own operations is assessed where-
ver tracking is possible, and this data contributes to understanding the 
company’s operational water footprint.

Water consumption from own operations:

Volume (m3) 2023 2024

Total Water Consumption (m³) 208 210 166 277

Water Consumption in Water-Stressed 
Areas (m³)

77 848 80 535

Water intensity

2023 2024

Water Intensity (m3/M€) 1217 857
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2.4. Resource Use and Circular Economy

Operating principles
Tapojärvi’s strategy guides its resource-related objectives by empha-
sizing circular economy principles and investing in development projects 
focused on circularity, including the advancement of tapoeko circular 
economy products.
Our environmental policy also outlines a clear commitment to circular 
economy principles. We strive for zero waste by ensuring thorough sor-
ting, promoting recycling, and offering circular economy services to our 
customers.
Our responsible operating model extends to the procurement of chemi-
cals and other materials, as well as to the development of new products 
derived from industrial side streams. This reinforces tapojärvi’s commit-
ment to environmental and health standards.
In our supplier code of conduct, tapojärvi expects suppliers to actively 
engage in sustainable development practices and to minimize negative 
environmental impacts. With regard to resource use and resource effi-
ciency, suppliers are expected to implement measures aimed at reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption, and waste generation.

Actions and resources
Tapojärvi’s business model enables the transformation of industrial side 
streams into valuable resources that can either be returned to the pro-
duction chain or further refined into new materials.
We deliver services and products tailored to our customers’ needs. In 
operations where we process customer-owned side streams, tapojärvi 
forms part of the customer’s value chain. Our circular solutions in in-
dustrial service operations enable customers to reuse their side streams 
within their own processes.
In cases where tapojärvi owns the side streams we process, we are com-
mitted to developing our processes and raw material choices in accor-
dance with circular economy principles.
As part of our commitment to continuous improvement, tapojärvi imple-
ments short- and long-term development initiatives related to resource 

use and circular economy. In 2024, we published both our updated 
environmental policy and our supplier code of conduct, which guide our 
activities and resource planning in relation to circular economy practices.

Resource efficiency

Resource efficiency is a core element of tapojärvi’s operations. The 
company has implemented several initiatives to improve energy efficien-
cy and increase the use of renewable energy. For example, part of the 
energy used at the central workshop is generated through solar panels.
In the selection of electricity and fuel sources at worksites, tapojärvi pri-
oritizes sustainable options whenever it has the opportunity to influence 
those decisions. In waste management, we pursue a zero-waste target 
through careful sorting and recycling.

Maintenance and machinery

When selecting machinery resources, tapojärvi emphasizes the acquisi-
tion of modern, low-emission vehicles and equipment.
At the kemi mine site, tapojärvi operates the first hybrid-powered loa-
ding machines in europe. This technological advancement supports our 
objectives for sustainable development and responsible business prac-
tices.

Tapoeko products

In 2024, tapojärvi launched its tapoeko product line, which is based on 
industrial side streams. These products have a smaller carbon footprint 
compared to conventional alternatives designed for the same use. All 
tapoeko products are developed in accordance with circular economy 
principles, and product development is continuous.

Objectives and indicators

Resource inflows

No specific quantitative targets have been set for resource inflows. Ho-
wever, their environmental impacts are assessed and taken into account 
in procurement decisions.



65

Mobile equipment is one of the core resources in tapojärvi’s operations. 
The primary inflowing resources related to mobile machinery include 
fuels, oil products, adblue, and tires. In mining operations, key resource 
inflows consist of production materials such as wire ropes, cement, conc-
rete, resin, bolts, and explosives.
In industrial service operations, concentrator plants consume electricity, 
water, production chemicals, and raw materials. In addition, the mate-
rial processed at the sites in italy and tornio forms part of the resource 
inflows.

Resource outflows

Targets related to outgoing resources are linked to circular economy 
processes.
At the tornio and terni concentrator plants, tapojärvi processes slag, and 
the resulting outgoing resources include recovered metals and other 
reusable materials (e.G. Aggregates). In these processes, customer requi-
rements guide the optimization of the quantity and quality of returned 
metals and materials. These targets are documented in service agree-
ments.
A summary table presents the total volume of outgoing resources at 
the tornio and terni sites, along with the recovery rate of the processed 
material. The figures are compiled from site-specific production data and 
are based on measured quantities.

Resource (tonnes) 2023 2024

Processed Slag (Inbound Resource) 969 923 919 059

           Recovered Metal 149 865 141 801

           Other Recovered Materials 503 647 455 422

Recovery Rate (%) 67 % 65 %

Waste

Tapojärvi has not set quantitative targets for the waste generated in its 
own operations. In general, the company seeks to minimize the amount 
of waste and to ensure that all waste is properly sorted.
Reported waste volumes are based on waste reports received from cont-
racted waste management companies. Waste is weighed and classified 
according to the european list of waste (low) codes, which also deter-
mine whether the waste is categorized as hazardous or non-hazardous. 
Hazardous waste includes, for example, mixtures from sand and oil 
separators, aerosols, and waste oils.

All waste is classified in accordance with the waste hierarchy, using the 
categories: preparation for re-use, recycling, other recovery, and dis-
posal. The share of non-recycled waste is calculated by subtracting the 
volume of recycled waste from the total volume of waste generated.
It is important to note that official waste reports often include treatment 
and recovery operation codes (such as r12–r13 for recovery and d13–
d15 for disposal), which do not specify the final method of recovery or 
treatment. In addition, at several worksites tapojärvi is both entitled and 
obligated to use sorting stations provided by the customer. In such ca-
ses, the customer is fully responsible for the waste management system, 
including its monitoring and reporting. Consequently, waste generated 
by tapojärvi at these sites cannot be distinguished from the total was-
te stream and is therefore excluded from tapojärvi’s own tracking and 
reporting.
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Waste (tonnes) 2023 2024

Total waste generated 1 738 2 619

Total waste diverted from disposal 649 1 142

Total hazardous waste diverted from disposal 230 309

          Preparation for re-use 0 0

          Recycling 186 256

          Other recovery operations 44 53

Total non-hazardous waste diverted from disposal 418 833

          Preparation for re-use 1 2

          Recycling 8 14

          Other recovery operations 410 817

Total waste directed to disposal 1 089 1 477

Hazardous waste directed to disposal 1 078 1 425

          Incineration (with or without energy recovery) 54 65

          Landfilling 0 0

          Other disposal operations 1 024 1 360

Non-hazardous waste directed to disposal 11 52

          Incineration (with or without energy recovery) 0 6

          Landfilling 0 0

          Other disposal operations 11 46

Non-recycled waste 1 544 2 350

Share of non-recycled waste (%) 89 % 90 %
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Composition of waste and waste streams

The most significant waste streams generated from tapojärvi’s operations 
are: 

•	 Waste mixtures from sand and oil separators
•	 Iron and steel
•	 Mineral-based, non-chlorinated engine, gear, and lubrication oils
•	 Septic sludge
•	 Soil and rock containing hazardous substances
•	 Mixed municipal waste

These waste types accounted for approximately 85% of all waste gene-
rated in 2024. Waste mixtures from sand and oil separators alone rep-
resented around 46 % of total waste and were estimated to account for 
approximately 78 % of the co2 emissions associated with waste.

Hazardous and radioactive waste

The table below presents the volumes of hazardous waste and radioactive 
waste generated.

Waste Type (tonnes)	 2023 2024

Hazardous Waste 1 308 1 734

Radioactive Waste 0 0
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3. Social Disclosures
At Tapojärvi, social responsibility means taking responsibility for people, the 
workplace community, and the surrounding society.
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3.1. Own Workforce

Operating principles
At tapojärvi, social responsibility means a strong commitment to emp-
loyee well-being, occupational safety, professional competence, and 
equality. The company respects human dignity, fosters respectful inte-
ractions, and is committed to honest communication with stakeholders.
Tapojärvi operates under a flat organizational model, with unnecessary 
layers of management removed to reduce hierarchy. This allows every 
employee to influence their own work and participate in the develop-
ment of operational practices. Staff are encouraged to pursue training, 
contribute to workplace development, and engage in the renewal of 
working methods.

Key personnel-related principles, guiding documents, and their con-
tent include:

•	 Code of conduct: defines ethical principles and guides all employee 
behavior. It emphasizes human rights, prohibition of forced and 
child labor, non-discrimination, fair working conditions, occupational 
safety, and respectful, honest interaction.

•	 Hr policy: guides human resources management and defines stra-
tegic priorities, focusing on a safe and healthy work community, 
responsible leadership, and professional supervisors and staff.

•	 Occupational health and safety policy: outlines the principles of 
safety management. Its goals include a safe working environment, 
prevention of work-related illnesses, and proactive safety leader-
ship. A core emphasis is the promotion of a zero-accident mindset.

•	 Recruitment policy: defines fair and equal recruitment practices to 
promote equality in the workplace and prevent discrimination.

Additional supporting guidelines address matters such as working hours, 
training, skills development, and equal treatment. These policies apply to 
all employees and provide consistent direction for daily operations.

Key personnel-related plans include:
•	 Workplace development plan
•	 Training plan
•	 Equality and non-discrimination plan

Processes

Engagement with own workforce and employee representatives

Tapojärvi maintains continuous, two-way communication with its person-
nel—both directly and through employee representatives. The objective 
is to ensure employees can express their views and stay informed about 
decisions and changes within the company.

Engagement methods include:
•	 pulse surveys and team-level review of results
•	 team meetings, weekly briefings, and safety talks
•	 development discussions and one-on-one conversations
•	 the tavi feedback feature
•	 observation reporting system
•	 xibo information displays at worksites
•	 whistleblowing channel

Tapojärvi’s flat organizational structure supports open communication 
and lowers barriers to contact. Avoiding bureaucracy and enabling quick 
response are fundamental principles of operation.

Employee representatives participate in the cooperation committee and 
occupational safety committee, contributing to operational development. 
These committees meet four times a year and address issues such as 
working conditions, safety, and organizational changes. This collaboration 
enables proactive planning and ensures that employee needs are consi-
dered.
The equality and non-discrimination survey is used to assess inclusion—
particularly from the perspective of vulnerable groups. Based on the re-
sults, support measures can be targeted and further actions developed.
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Raising concerns and addressing adverse impacts

Tapojärvi has established multiple processes that enable personnel to 
raise concerns and contribute to the resolution of identified issues:

•	 regular performance and development discussions
•	 annual pulse surveys
•	 equality and non-discrimination surveys (conducted every 2–3 years)
•	 whistleblowing channel

The whistleblowing channel is open to all and allows for anonymous 
reporting. Reports may be submitted even without conclusive evidence, 
provided they are made in good faith. The channel is operated by an 
independent third party, and its technical design ensures full anonymity 
and whistleblower protection. Whistleblowers receive a unique identi-
fier, which allows them to track the status of their case without revealing 
their identity.

All reports are handled confidentially and only by those directly involved 
in the investigation process. Responsible personnel are clearly desig-
nated. No disciplinary actions are taken prior to the completion of the 
investigation. Where necessary, corrective measures are implemented, 
and their effectiveness is assessed on a case-by-case basis.

Actions and resources
Tapojärvi is committed to preventing accidents, occupational diseases, 
and other adverse impacts on personnel across all areas of operation.

Health and safety

Tapojärvi consistently prioritizes safety in all working environments. Occu-
pational safety is an integral part of the company’s operational culture 
and is approached proactively.

Key measures

•	 ergonomic assessments and risk evaluations
•	 integration of health and safety considerations in procurement and 

work planning
•	 occupational safety training and onboarding
•	 hazard observations, incident and near-miss investigations
•	 supervisor-led safety walkthroughs
•	 safety briefings (“safety moments”) and other safety communica-

tions
•	 continuous development of safety practices

Accident frequency and safety observations are regularly monitored both 
at worksites and at the management level. The goal is to foster a zero-ac-
cident culture, where every employee takes responsibility for safety. Con-
tinuous improvement measures are implemented throughout the entire 
group.

Maintaining work ability and supporting wellbeing

Supporting work ability and holistic wellbeing is a key focus at tapojärvi. 
Work ability is proactively promoted through occupational safety prac-
tices, occupational healthcare, and the early support model. The compa-
ny aims to respond to workloads and signs of strain in a timely manner.
Occupational health is strengthened through ergonomic design, reduc-
tion of noise and dust exposure, health monitoring, and enabling job 
rotation. To support physical fitness, tapojärvi offers employees access 
to sports and wellbeing services.

Employees with special needs and ageing workers are supported 
through measures such as

•	 Flexible working time arrangements (e.g. part-time pension sche-
mes)

•	 option for part-time work for employees aged 55 and above
•	 reduction of commuting-related workload
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The risk of work disability is addressed in cooperation with the occupa-
tional health service and the pension insurance provider.
Transitions in employment relationships are anticipated proactively. 
When fixed-term contracts come to an end, efforts are made to offer 
new assignments or training opportunities to the employees. The obje-
ctive is to safeguard work ability, competencies, and employability, even 
in times of change.
These measures are implemented across the entire group. However, 
wellbeing benefits may vary by country, depending on local conditions 
such as taxation practices. At the group level, the aim is to ensure a fair 
and equitable overall approach that supports employee wellbeing across 
all operational environments.

Training and competence development

At tapojärvi, competence development is a key part of human resources 
work and continuous organizational improvement. The goal is to offer 
every employee opportunities to learn, grow, and apply their skills in di-
verse ways. Competence is strengthened through training and develop-
ment programmes, career paths, internal mobility, and a centralized trai-
ning register.
In 2023, the company began compiling general onboarding material for 
an elearning platform. In 2024, the content offering was expanded, and in 
2025, a new, user-friendly learning platform and onboarding system will 
be launched.
Supervisors are offered 360-degree feedback assessments and elearning 
training. Skills related to early support discussions are developed through 
a dedicated online training module. Development discussions are sup-
ported by training and updated guidance, and their implementation is 
monitored through a digital system.
Practices still vary between countries. The expansion of elearning content 
into multiple languages and the harmonization of development discus-
sion models are being carried out in phases.
Employees’ skills are further enhanced by providing diverse work assign-
ments and supporting multi-skilling. Development discussions are used 
to identify growth opportunities based on individual interests and compe-
tencies. Internal mobility and international assignments are encouraged 
as part of professional development.

Gender equality and equal pay for work of equal value

Operating in a male-dominated industry can impact perceptions of 
equality and pose challenges to achieving true non-discrimination. These 
risks are managed through an equality plan, pay gap analyses, training, 
communication, and inclusive recruitment practices.
In 2024, a gender equality and non-discrimination survey was conduct-
ed to assess employees’ perceptions of fairness. While the majority of 
respondents did not report any issues, some expressed concerns about 
imbalances in pay, job roles, and workload distribution.
Based on the survey results, the following development measures were 
implemented in 2024:

•	 Training for supervisors on equality and non-discrimination
•	 A decision to develop shared operational principles in the form of a 

code of conduct
•	 Creation of a related elearning course to support consistent practices 

across the organization

Measures against workplace violence and harassment

In 2024, the gender equality and non-discrimination survey also examined 
employees’ experiences of harassment.
Based on the survey results, it was deemed necessary to provide aware-
ness-raising training for supervisors and to draft written rules of conduct 
(code of conduct).
In addition, internal communications have openly highlighted the possibi-
lity to report inappropriate situations via the whistleblowing channel and 
explained the principles of the system, including anonymity.

Developing diversity

Tapojärvi aims to build a work community where everyone feels valued 
and treated equally, regardless of gender, age, background, or job role.
This is supported, among other things, by strengthening tapojärvi’s emp-
loyer image externally.
Active participation in student events and recruitment fairs promotes 
diversity and communicates a fair and inclusive workplace.
At the same time, recruitment policies are implemented, and tapojärvi’s 
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job opportunities for young people and career changers are highlighted.
At the other end of the diversity spectrum are age-related issues. Alt-
hough tapojärvi’s workforce is currently relatively young, preparations 
are already being made for an ageing workforce. Retirement and rising 
costs may pose challenges, but flexible work arrangements, task modifi-
cations, and knowledge transfer help support longer careers.
The experience and tacit knowledge of older employees are valuable for 
the organisation and its diversity.

Objectives and indicators 
 
personnel-related goals are defined annually and support tapojärvi’s 
strategic and sustainability objectives. Occupational safety, in particular, 
is a key strategic focus, with clearly defined goals extending down to the 
level of individual job roles.

The goals for the key subtopics related to tapojärvi’s own workforce 
are:

•	 Health and safety: tapojärvi aims to develop a zero-accident cultu-
re and prevent occupational diseases. The target for accident fre-
quency is zero accidents per one million working hours.

•	 Gender equality and equal pay for work of equal value: the goal 
is to reduce the gender pay gap to below 5% and to increase the 
proportion of women in supervisory positions.

•	 Training and competence development: the aim is to achieve 
100% coverage of development discussions for all white-collar and 
supervisory personnel, and to provide annual training days in line 
with staff needs.

•	 Measures against workplace violence and harassment: tapo-
järvi seeks to prevent inappropriate conduct in the workplace and 
promote a safe, open, and respectful working environment. The 
company applies zero tolerance toward workplace violence and 
harassment.

•	 Diversity: the goal is to build a work community where everyone 
feels valued and treated equally, regardless of gender, age, back-
ground, or job role.

Tapojärvi uses consistent and comparable indicators to monitor develop-
ments in workforce-related impacts and the achievement of set targets.

The indicators cover, among other things, the number and frequency of 
accidents, training days, gender distribution, realization of equality, emp-
loyee survey results, and the number of occupational safety actions. The-
se indicators provide a clear basis for evaluating progress and driving con-
tinuous improvement.
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Characteristics of employees with employment contracts

Employees by company and staff group

This report presents the number of employees with employment contracts and their status as of 31 december 2024.

Mana-
gement

White-Collar 
Employees Supervisors

Blue-Collar 
Workers Total

Tapojärvi Oy 15 86 63 533 697

Hannukainen Mining Oy 1 6 7

Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l 15 13 78 106

Tapojärvi Sverige AB 5 7 58 70

Tapojarvi Hellas M.I.K.E. 5 11 16

Temporary Agency Workers 1 14 15

Total 16 118 83 694 911

Employees with employment contracts by type of contract and gender

Women Men Total

Fixed-Term 2 82 84

Full-Time 1 76 77

Part-Time 1 6 7

Permanent 46 781 827

Full-Time 43 775 818

Part-Time 3 6 9

Total 48 863 911
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At the end of the 2024 financial year, the tapojärvi group employed a 
total of 911 people, which is 130 more than at the end of the previous 
financial year. Of the tapojärvi group’s employees, 95 % (863) were men 
and 5 % (48) were women. The number of women increased by three 
compared to the previous year, although their proportion of the total 
workforce decreased by one percentage point.

Across the group, 91 % of employees—827 individuals—had permanent 
employment contracts. Of these, nine people (1 %) worked part-time. A 
total of 84 employees, or 9 % of the workforce, were employed on fixed-
term contracts, of whom seven (8 %) worked part-time. Altogether, there 
were 16 part-time employees in the tapojärvi group.

In 2024, tapojärvi received 1,819 job applications, 9 % of which were 
from women. The total number of applications was 1,819, which was 
932 more than in 2023. During the year, a total of 27 job advertisements 
were published.

Throughout the group, 255 new employment contracts were signed 
during the financial year—100 more than in the previous year. A total of 
141 employment contracts ended (18 more than the year before). Of the 
ended contracts, 45 % had lasted less than one year, and 40 % had lasted 
between one and five years.

In total, 141 employees left the tapojärvi group in 2024. The employee 
turnover rate was 16 %, based on a total of 911 employees. The turnover 
rate for voluntary resignations (including resignations and trial period 
terminations initiated by the employee) was 6 %.

Coverage of collective bargaining agreements
Tapojärvi operates in multiple countries and employs a variety of staff 
groups. All employees in finland, sweden, italy, and greece are covered 
by collective bargaining agreements (cbas). These agreements define key 
terms of employment, such as working hours, pay structures, and holi-
day practices. Coverage is therefore 100 % in the regions where cbas are 
applied.

Dialogue with labour market parties is based on transparency, mutual 
respect, and predictability. Locally, employee representatives participate 
in regular meetings with supervisors and management. In longer-term 
projects and situations involving change, employees are consulted in 
accordance with local cooperation legislation.

Collaboration is continuously developed with the aim of increasing 
employee engagement, improving communication, and strengthening 
trust between employer and personnel. In recent years, discussions have 
particularly focused on occupational health, safety, and competence 
development.

Diversity indicators 
gender distribution of employees by staff group

The proportion of women in top management in 2024 was 12,5 %.

Manage-
ment

White-Collar 
Employees Supervisors

Blue-Collar 
Workers Total

Women 2 28 1 17 48

Men 14 90 82 677 863

Total 16 118 83 694 911

Personnel by age group

The average age of personnel is 40 years. The largest age group is 30–50 
years, representing 60 % of the workforce.

Age Group 2024

Under 30 years 168

30–50 years 550

Over 50 years 193
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Adequate pay
Pay is determined based on collective bargaining agreements, local prac-
tices, and the requirements of the position. Compensation corresponds 
to the general level of the industry and region. Its adequacy is assessed 
regularly as part of the development of the remuneration system.

An adequate wage ensures a reasonable livelihood and standard of 
living. It also supports work motivation, commitment, and the experience 
of fairness. All employees are paid at least the minimum wages required 
by law and applicable collective agreements. Underpayment is not tole-
rated in any of the countries where tapojärvi operates.

Social protection
Tapojärvi provides its personnel with comprehensive social protection. 
This consists of statutory rights, collective bargaining agreements, and 
additional company-specific benefits.
All employees have access to occupational healthcare. This is comple-
mented by insurance coverage that safeguards income in the event of 
accidents, illness, or disability. To support work ability, tapojärvi offers 
exercise benefits, an early support model, and close cooperation with 
occupational health services.
Parenthood and work-life balance are supported through parental leave 
options and part-time arrangements. Tapojärvi’s employees are covered 
by national pension and social security systems in each country of ope-
ration. In cases of employment termination, income security and legal 
protection are supported in cooperation with supervisors, hr, and occu-
pational health services.

Persons with disabilities and reduced work capacity
Tapojärvi is committed to equality and non-discrimination in all its opera-
tions. This includes persons with disabilities and reduced work capacity, 
whose right to work, participation, and equal opportunities is recognized 
as an integral part of the company’s values and sustainability efforts.

The inclusion of persons with disabilities and reduced work capacity is 

promoted in practice as part of equality and non-discrimination plan-
ning. Practical measures are developed in cooperation with human 
resources and occupational health services, taking into account indivi-
dual needs and conditions related to work ability..

Training and skills development indicators
Tapojärvi invests in employee development and supports professional 
growth as well as the strengthening of leadership skills. Competence 
development is a key factor in achieving the company’s strategic and 
operational objectives.

Employees are encouraged to set and pursue their own development 
goals and to take advantage of the learning and development opportuni-
ties provided by tapojärvi. Supervisors are responsible for planning deve-
lopment activities, and hr supports the process by assisting in planning, 
monitoring, and implementation. Activities are evaluated regularly, and 
the training plan is updated annually in cooperation with supervisors, 
employees, and employee representatives.

Indicator 2023 2024 Target

Training Hours per Employee 30 24 over 30 h

Health and safety indicators

Tapojärvi consistently invests in developing a strong safety culture and 
promoting occupational health. The goal is to prevent accidents, strengt-
hen work ability, and ensure a safe and healthy working environment at 
all sites.

Occupational health and safety outcomes are monitored, measured, 
and analyzed on a regular basis. Tapojärvi uses both leading and lagging 
indicators to build a comprehensive understanding of workplace safety 
levels and employee wellbeing.
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Indicator 2023 2024 Target

Frequency of Proactive 
Safety Actions (SAF)

9 500 10 700 over 10 000

Number of Occupational 
Injuries, All Employees

9 10 0

Total Recordable Injury Fre-
quency (TRIF, 12 months), 
All Employees

6.5 6.6 <2.5

Lost Time Injury Frequency 
(LTIF)

2.2 3.3 0

Health Rate (percentage of 
employees with zero sick 
leave)

28 % 33 % 40 %

Lost Workdays Due to 
Occupational Injuries or 
Illnesses

5 634 5 790 ≥ 2023 level

Work–Life Balance Indicators
Tapojärvi promotes work–life balance by offering flexible practices and 
wellbeing benefits. All employees have the right to take parental leave.

Indicator 2023 2024 Target

Employee Net Promoter 
Score (eNPS)

14 8 over 20

Overall Employee Satis-
faction

74 74 over 80

Income-related indicators
In 2024, the average gender pay gap at Tapojärvi was 5.7% (2023: 8.3%). 
The narrowing gap indicates positive progress toward more equitable 
compensation. In addition, the highest individual salary was 3.8 times 
the median salary of all employees.

Tapojärvi is committed to fairness and non-discrimination in compen-
sation. The company conducts an annual pay analysis based on internal 
comparison factors (e.g. job requirements, competence), personal back-
ground characteristics, and external market data. The goal is to iden-
tify and correct any unjustified differences as part of the salary review 
process.

Cooperation with collective bargaining parties and employee representa-
tives ensures compliance with ethical and legal standards.

The observed pay gap is primarily explained by the distribution of work 
roles: men are more often employed in demanding or leadership po-
sitions, which tend to offer higher salaries. Tapojärvi seeks to support 
women in advancing to more demanding roles and monitors progress 
over time.

The pay gap is calculated by comparing the average total salaries of men 
and women. The calculation does not yet adjust for differentiating fac-
tors such as job level or experience. However, this method provides an 
overall view of the existence and development of pay disparities.

In the future, the analysis will be refined by job category and staff group 
to better understand the underlying causes of pay differences in greater 
detail.
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Indicator 2023 2024 Target

Gender Pay Gap 8.3 % 5.7 % Below 5 % by 2026

Pay Ratio Between Hig-
hest-Paid Individual and 
Median Employee Salary

N/A 3.8

Cases, Complaints, and Human Rights Impacts 
 
Tapojärvi actively monitors indicators related to working life and human 
rights to ensure that its operations remain ethical, fair, and aligned with 
international labour standards.

In 2024:
•	 No data breaches or human rights violations were identified
•	 No confirmed cases of corruption were reported
•	 Four reports were submitted through the whistleblower channel, all 

of which were handled in accordance with internal procedures

Indicator 2023 2024 Target

Number of Reported 
Cases

0 4 No Substantiated 
Cases
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4. Governance Disclosures
Tapojärvi’s governance is based on ethical, honest, and transparent leadership, guided by the company’s core 
values. The objective is to ensure that operations at all levels of the organisation comply with the law and adhere 
to good governance practices, sustainability principles, and international obligations.
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4.1. Business Conduct

Operating principles
Tapojärvi’s operating policy is designed to harmonise company culture, 
communicate expectations across business areas, and promote the com-
pany’s core values—safety, competence, efficiency, and profitability—
throughout all units. In addition to values, the policy outlines company-wi-
de principles and management systems applicable to all personnel and 
partners, including related policies and commitments to key corporate 
responsibility initiatives.

Values: safety, competence, efficiency, and profitability guide both daily 
operations and strategic development. Value alignment starts at onbo-
arding and is reinforced through training, internal communication, and 
employee engagement.
Code of conduct: sets out business principles and behavioural guidelines 
for all employees, emphasising compliance with laws and regulations, res-
pect for human rights and working conditions, safety, honesty, professio-
nal conduct, and respectful communication and interaction.
Supplier code of conduct: defines the expectations for suppliers and ot-
her business partners aligned with tapojärvi’s values. The goal is to build 
strong partnerships based on responsibility and ethical conduct, while en-
couraging continuous improvement in sustainability.
Management systems: tapojärvi oy’s management system is certified 
according to the iso 9001 quality management standard and applies to 
operations in finland. The subsidiary tapojarvi italia s.R.L is certified under 
both iso 9001 and iso 14001 standards.
Policies: tapojärvi has implemented policies on occupational health and 
safety, the environment, and quality. These define principles and goals for 
managing and improving performance in each area. Additional policies 
exist, for example, to guide human resources practices.

Tapojärvi is a signatory to the united nations global compact and is com-
mitted to upholding its ten principles related to human rights, labour, en-
vironment, and anti-corruption. The company respects the international 
labour organization (ilo) declaration on fundamental principles and rights 
at work and recognises the importance of the un sustainable develop-
ment goals (sdgs). Tapojärvi has identified multiple opportunities to ad-
vance these goals through its business operations.

Reporting concerns
Tapojärvi is committed to maintaining an open organisational culture in 
which concerns can be reported if any activity is observed or suspected 
to be in conflict with the company’s operating principles or involves other 
forms of misconduct. Misconduct is defined as any action that violates 
applicable laws, regulations, or the company’s policies, or that may cause 
direct or indirect financial loss or other harm to the company, its person-
nel, or other stakeholders.

The company has a whistleblowing channel through which individuals 
can anonymously report observed irregularities. The channel complies 
with the eu whistleblower protection directive, and all concerns reported 
through the system are handled confidentially. No negative consequen-
ces will be directed at those who make reports in good faith. Employees 
have been clearly informed of the availability of the reporting channel, 
and related training has been incorporated into the mandatory code of 
conduct elearning course for all employees as of the beginning of 2025.

All reports are received centrally and processed confidentially. An inde-
pendent responsible officer handles the process, and each case is add-
ressed without delay.

In 2024, four reports were submitted through the whistleblowing chan-
nel. All were processed within 14 days. No serious ethical violations were 
identified. The cases resulted in clarifications to internal guidelines and 
the targeting of supervisor training.
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Supplier relations
Tapojärvi maintains long-term, responsible, and ethical relationships 
with its suppliers. Supplier management is an integral part of the com-
pany’s business principles and risk management. Tapojärvi ensures that 
taxes are paid, reported, and remitted accurately in the country and 
location where the economic activity, value creation, and work actually 
take place.

Supplier management and selection

Tapojärvi requires all suppliers to commit to its supplier code of conduct, 
which outlines ethical business practices and requirements related to en-
vironmental protection and working conditions. In 2024, self-assessment 
surveys were sent to the ten largest suppliers by value.

The procurement process is based on transparency and long-term 
partnerships where sustainability and ethics are key priorities. Equal 
treatment of suppliers, fair contractual terms, and responsibility require-
ments are central principles in tapojärvi’s procurement practices.

Support for smes

To support small and medium-sized enterprises (smes), tapojärvi ensu-
res that payments are made on time and that any delays are addressed 
promptly, thereby minimising financial pressure on sme suppliers.

Responsible supplier management and risk control

Suppliers are required to accept the supplier code of conduct, which 
includes commitments to human rights, improvement of working condi-
tions, environmental protection, and ethical business conduct. Tapojärvi 
performs self-assessments and audits to verify supplier responsibility. 
Large and critical suppliers are regularly evaluated, and their esg perfor-
mance is monitored.

Supplier-related environmental impacts, emissions, and safety are inclu-
ded in the evaluation criteria. Esg-related data, such as emissions and 
safety indicators, is requested from suppliers when necessary.

Sustainable supply chain and impact management

Tapojärvi minimises environmental impacts in the supply chain by ensu-
ring that purchased machinery and equipment meet the best available 
technology and environmental standards. The company requires fair 
competition, anti-bribery and anti-corruption compliance, and adherence 
to international labour standards from its suppliers.

Social and environmental criteria—such as energy efficiency, low-emis-
sion solutions, and circular economy approaches—are key factors in 
supplier selection alongside price. Responsibility is a central selection 
criterion.

Risk management and supply chain continuity

Tapojärvi strategically manages supply chain risks by using technology 
and data for digital monitoring and predictive maintenance. Long-term 
contracts and a multichannel procurement model help reduce depen-
dency on individual suppliers.

Local sourcing and vulnerable suppliers

Tapojärvi supports local economic growth by prioritising procurement 
of services and materials from local companies. Preference is given to 
suppliers certified with iso 9001 (quality), iso 14001 (environment), and 
iso 45001 (occupational health and safety). Vulnerable suppliers are sup-
ported through long-term partnerships that ensure financial stability and 
promote the development of responsible business practices.
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Prevention and detection of corruption and bribery
Tapojärvi is committed in its operating principles to the prevention of 
corruption and bribery and expects the same from its suppliers. The 
company has assessed corruption and bribery risks from country-, sec-
tor-, and function-specific perspectives as well as from the supply chain 
point of view. Preventive measures and practices have been defined to 
minimise these risks.

Tapojärvi has not identified, nor has it received any reports of, miscon-
duct related to corruption or bribery.

Political engagement and lobbying
Tapojärvi’s political engagement is limited, transparent, and focused on 
promoting the circular economy and sustainable development. The com-
pany is registered in the transparency register and reports its advocacy 
activities in accordance with legal requirements.

In 2024, tapojärvi reported no more than five contacts to the register, 
directed at decision-making bodies such as members of parliament and 
ministries. The advocacy activities are limited in scope and related to ta-
pojärvi’s expertise, particularly in advancing industrial circular economy 
and sustainable development. The company does not provide lobbying 
consultancy services nor act on behalf of third parties.

The obligations related to the transparency register were fulfilled in ac-
cordance with the law, and tapojärvi remains committed to the principles 
of transparency and ethical lobbying.

The goal of tapojärvi’s advocacy is to positively influence political ini-
tiatives and regulatory environments that support the development of 
industrial circular economy and investments in sustainable industry.

Payment practices
The tapojärvi group follows a payment policy that ensures all purchase 
invoices are paid by their due date. This policy applies to all suppliers, in-
cluding small and medium-sized enterprises and all supplier categories.

On average, 28 days pass from the invoice date to the payment date. 
This figure is based on a sample of purchase invoices from the parent 
company covering the period from 1 january to 30 april 2025. The da-
taset included all purchase invoices paid during the year. There are no 
ongoing legal proceedings related to late payments. Tapojärvi is conside-
red a reliable payer.
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Notes to Financial Statements 31.12.2024
Basic information about the group
Tapojärvi is an internationally operating group engaged in mining, in-
dustrial and circular economy services, as well as mining and quarrying. 
The Group’s parent company Tapojärvi Oy (0910259-9) is a Finnish limit-
ed company. Its subsidiaries are Hannukainen Mining Oy, Tapojarvi Italia 
S.r.l and Tapojärvi Sverige AB.
The parent company’s registered office is in Kolari and its street address 
is Tullipuistonkatu 2, Office facility 1, 95400 Tornio, Finland.

Accounting principles
Tapojärvi Oy’s financial statements and consolidated financial state-
ments have been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting 
Act (FAS) and other laws and regulations in force in Finland.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is 
the currency used by the Group’s parent company Tapojärvi Oy and the 
Group companies in their operations and presentation.

Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
Subsidiaries are companies in which the Group has a controlling interest. 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the subsidiaries in 
their entirety from the moment the Group gains control of the company. 
Their incorporation shall be terminated on the date on which the control 
ceases.
The control referred to in the consolidated financial statements comes 
into existence when the Group owns more than half of the voting rights 
or otherwise controls the subsidiary. Control refers to the right to deter-
mine the economic and business policies of the company in order to gain 
benefits from its activities.
Business transactions, outstanding receivables and debt balances within 
the Group, as well as unrealised gains arising from internal business 
transactions within the Group are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the sales transaction provides indications of a decrea-
se in value of the asset being transferred

Valuation and accrual principles and methods

Sales income recognition
The Group’s turnover consists of the factory and mining services it provi-
des. Turnover is recognised when the services have been performed.

Pension obligations
The companies have pension arrangements in place in accordance with 
local terms and practices. The arrangements are handled by an external 
insurance company. Pension expenditure is recognised as an expense in
the year of their accumulation.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses during the period in which 
they were incurred.

Income taxes
Taxes in the consolidated income statement include taxes based on the 
taxable profit of the group companies calculated in accordance with local 
tax regulations and tax rates. In addition, taxes in the profit and loss 
account include changes in deferred tax liabilities and assets.
The deferred tax liability or asset is calculated for temporary differences 
between the tax base and the financial statements, and differences ari-
sing from group eliminations, using the tax rate for the following year as
determined at the balance sheet date. Temporary differences arise, for 
example, from internal margins and depreciation differences.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in full. A deferred tax asset is 
recognised for recognised losses and other temporary differences only 
when it is probable that the asset will be utilised against taxable profit in 
future periods.

Tangible and intangible assets
Research costs are recognised as an expense in incomestatement when 
they have been incurred. The Group companies have no capitalised de-
velopment costs.
Planned depreciation and amortization have been deducted from the 
acquisition cost of tangible and intangible assets recognised in the 
balance sheet, except for the mining-related items specified below. The 
costs incurred through acquisition and production have been included in 
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the acquisition cost. The subsidies received are recognised as a deduction 
of the acquisition cost. Planned depreciation and amortization have been 
calculated as straight-line depreciation on the basis of the economic use-
ful life of the tangible and intangible assets. The depreciations have been 
made from the month in which the asset was put into service.

Depreciations for assets or land in progress are not recognised, nor are 
depreciations for other tangible assets related to mining. The Group’s ot-
her tangible assets consist mainly of costs related to the preparation and 
startup of mining activities resulting from the mapping and evaluation of a 
mineral deposit and they may be capitalised until such time as the eco-
nomic resource has been identified and mining operations are started or 
mining assets are abandoned. Capitalised costs are expenditure on mate-
rials and services used to achieve an asset, including, for example, expen-
diture related to permits and the process of defining an area allocated 
for mining. Other expenses are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement when they have been incurred.
Taxes in the consolidated income statement include taxes based on the 
taxable profit of the group companies calculated in accordance with local 

tax regulations and tax rates. In addition, taxes in the profit and loss 
account include changes in deferred tax liabilities and assets.

The deferred tax liability or asset is calculated for temporary diffe-
rences between the tax base and the financial statements, and dif-
ferences arising from group eliminations, using the tax rate for the 
following year as determined at the balance sheet date. Temporary 
differences arise, for example, from internal margins and
depreciation differences. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in full. 
A deferred tax asset is recognised for recognised losses and other 
temporary differences only when it is probable that the asset will be 
utilised against taxable profit in future periods. The acquisition costs 
of fixed assets with a probable useful life of less than three years and 
small acquisitions (less than EUR 850) are recognised in full as an 
expense for the acquisition period.

Gains and losses on the disposal of assets are calculated as the diffe-
rence between the selling price and book value and are presented in 
the profit and loss statement as other operating income or expenses.

Subsidiary shares
Subsidiary shares are valued at acquisition cost and adjusted for im-
pairment if the future income from the investment is expected to be 
permanently below acquisition cost.

Valuation of financial instruments
Financial instruments are valued at acquisition cost or, if lower, their 
probable value.

Foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities  
Foreign currency denominated liabilities have been translated into 
euros using the exchange rates at financial year-end.

Accounting principles for the cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
instructions of the Accounting Board (30 January 2007). The funds 
described in the cash flow statement include cash and cash equiva-
lents that may be converted into cash if needed. The cash flow from 
operating activities is presented using indirect presentation.

Commodity group

Estimated 
service

life
Depreciation
percentage

Depreciation
method

Consolidated goodwill 10 straight-line depreciation

Intangible rights 5 straight-line depreciation

Other long-term expenditures 5/10 straight-line depreciation

Buildings and structures 4/7/20% reducing balance method

Buildings and structures 10 straight-line depreciation

Machinery and equipment 25% reducing balance method

Machinery and equipment 3-10 straight-line depreciation

Other tangible assets 5 straight-line depreciation
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Governance and  
Remuneration2024

Part 3

Tapojärvi’s governance is based on the Finnish Companies Act, 
the Group’s internal policies and principles, international stan-
dards, and an established management system. The company is 
also committed to the United Nations Global Compact initiative. 
 
The governance and remuneration frameworks support sustai-
nable development, reinforce good corporate governance, and 
ensure compliance with the European Sustainability Reporting 
Standards (ESRS).
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Tapojärvi’s governance is based on the Fin-
nish Companies Act and the Group’s internal 
governance principles, which are complement-
ed by procedures aligned with ISO standards, 
the UN Global Compact commitments, and the 
EU’s sustainability reporting guidelines (ESRS). 
The company adheres to good governance 
practices, regulatory requirements, and the 
legislation of the countries in which it operates 
(Finland, Sweden, Italy, and Greece), particu-
larly regarding occupational safety, the envi-
ronment, and business ethics.

Tapojärvi’s organizational structure consists of 
the General Meeting, the Board of Directors, 
the CEO, and the Management Team. The 
Board is responsible for strategic direction, 
approval of sustainability objectives, and risk 
oversight. The CEO leads the company’s day-
to-day operations, and the Management Team 
is responsible for implementing the strategy 
and sustainability program in everyday activi-
ties. The Group’s support and expert functions 
(HSEQ, HR, Finance, Innovation) provide assis-
tance to business units in the various count-
ries of operation.

Board responsibilities  
and activities
Tapojärvi’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the company’s strategic direction, gover-
nance, approval of sustainability goals, and 
the oversight of risk management and internal 
control. The Board appoints the CEO, monitors 
their performance, and guides the long-term 
development of the Group in the interests of 
shareholders and stakeholders.

The Board brings broad experience in areas 
such as industry, sustainable development, 
financial management, and corporate leader-
ship. During the year, the Board met regularly 
and addressed, among other matters, strategy 
updates, investment projects, developments in 
sustainability reporting, and risk management. 
Board members of Group companies hold 
responsibilities in various subsidiaries. Four 
Board representatives serve on the Boards of 
all Group companies. They represent owner-
ship, strategic expertise, and sectoral knowled-
ge of the Group’s core business areas.

Tapojärvi’s governance and management are subject to the laws and 
regulations applicable to Finnish limited liability companies, as well 
as the company’s Articles of Association.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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Markku Tapojärvi

Chair of the Board

Markku Tapojärvi serves 
as Chair of the Board of 

Directors of Tapojärvi Oy, 
Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l., and 
Hannukainen Mining Oy, 
and as a member of the 

Board of Directors of  
Tapojärvi Sverige AB.

He is one of the owners of 
Tapojärvi and a key figure 
in the strategic steering of 

the Group.

Pertti Tapojärvi
Member of the Board, 

Principal Owner

Pertti Tapojärvi serves on 
the Boards of Tapojärvi 
Oy, Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l., 

and Hannukainen Mining 
Oy, and acts as Chair of 
the Board of Tapojärvi 

Sverige AB.

He is the other owner of 
Tapojärvi and takes an ac-
tive role in the company’s 

development.

Tuomo Tuohino
Member of the Board

Tuomo Tuohino is a mem-
ber of the Board of Direc-
tors in all Tapojärvi Group 

companies: Tapojärvi 
Oy, Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l., 

Tapojärvi Sverige AB, and 
Hannukainen Mining Oy.

He has a broad under-
standing of the Group’s 
operational and interna-

tional activities and strong 
expertise in mining 

production.

Mauri Kauppi
Member of the Board

Mauri Kauppi is a member 
of the Board of Directors 

of all Tapojärvi Group 
companies: Tapojärvi 

Oy, Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l., 
Tapojärvi Sverige AB, and 
Hannukainen Mining Oy.

He brings to the Board 
experience in mining and 
industrial services, sales 

and development, as well 
as international business.

Jouko Pakarinen
Member of the Board

Jouko Pakarinen serves as 
a member of the Board of 
Directors of Hannukainen 

Mining Oy.

His core expertise lies in 
the mining industry and 

local partnerships, as well 
as in geology and mineral 

processing.

Board of Directors



97

Tapojärvi’s management systematically develops operations to support both business 
growth and the advancement of sustainable development.

Mari Pilventö
Acting CEO, Tapojärvi Oy

CEO, Tapojärvi Sverige AB and Hannukainen 
Mining Oy

Mari Pilventö serves as Acting CEO of the 
Tapojärvi Group and is responsible for over-

seeing operations in Finland and Sweden.

She plays a key role in implementing the 
Group’s strategic objectives, ensuring finan-
cial oversight, and promoting a sustainable 

business model.

Management Team
The Tapojärvi Management Team is respon-
sible for the Group’s daily operational ma-
nagement, implementation of the strategy, 
and practical execution of the sustainability 
program.

In 2024, its composition remained unchan-
ged.

The Management Team includes:
•	 Chief Executive Officers (Pilventö and 

Kaikkonen)
•	 Heads of Business Areas
•	 Individuals responsible for Develop-

ment, Finance, Quality, and Innovation

The Management Team works in close 
cooperation with the Board of Directors to 
ensure that Tapojärvi’s operations progress 
in line with the company’s core values: safety, 
competence, efficiency, and profitability.

The management is supported by the follo-
wing key expert units:

•	 HSEQ (Health, Safety, Environment, 
Quality)

•	 Business Controller Unit
•	 Sales and Development (Innovation 

functions)
•	 Technology (Equipment, Maintenance 

and Servicing)
•	 Business Support Services (HR, Commu-

nications, IT, Finance, Real Estate)

Martti Kaikkonen
CEO, Member of the Board, 

Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l

Martti Kaikkonen is responsible for 
managing Tapojärvi’s operations in 

Italy.

He has strong experience in inter-
national business, particularly in de-
veloping circular economy services 
and slag handling solutions for the 

Italian market.

Management

Chief Executive Officers
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Sales and  
Development

Technology 
Maintenance and Servicing

Service Production

Tapojärven Kiinteistöt Oy 

Recurso Oy

Related Companies

Tapojärvi  Sverige A 

 

Tapojarvi Italia S.r.l 

 

Tapojarvi  Hellas M.I.K.E. 

 

Hannukainen  Mining Oy

Business Support Services

Mining Services

Underground Mines

Open-Pit Mines

Industrial Services

Material Processing

Industrial  
Circular Economy

Tapojärvi Group – Core Business and Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries
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Tapojärvi’s internal control system is an integral part of the group’s 
management framework. Its purpose is to ensure that the company’s 
operations are effective, reliable, lawful, and responsible. Internal control 
supports the achievement of strategic and operational goals, enables the 
early identification of risks, and helps prevent misconduct, errors, and 
inconsistencies.

The control system is based on three core principles:

1.	 Prevention – guidelines, training, and operating procedures prevent 
the realization of risks.

2.	 Detection – indicators and monitoring systems provide up-to-date 
information on potential deviations.

3.	 Correction – clearly defined processes and responsibilities ensure 
that corrective actions are taken when needed.

The foundation of the control environment lies in a clear organizational 
structure, defined responsibilities, and the commitment of the board 
of directors and the management team to ethical, transparent, and 
goal-oriented leadership.

Key policies and principles in internal control
Tapojärvi has adopted several policies and principles to guide internal 
control. These are presented in the sustainability report, page 79. The 
policies and principles are reviewed regularly and are supported by trai-
ning, audits, and monitoring reports.

Risk assessment and control measures
Risk management is an integrated part of tapojärvi’s management and 
planning processes.

Internal Control and Risk Management
Assessment practices include:

•	 Risk mapping and documentation
•	 Identification of operational, strategic, and financial risks
•	 Use of materiality assessments and stakeholder dialogues

Control measures include:
•	 Internal and external audits
•	 Data point responsibilities and process monitoring
•	 Preventive tools such as safety walks and observation reports
•	 Supervisor training and updates to guidance materials

Communication
Internal control communication takes place through multiple channels:

•	 Elearning platform
•	 Internal intranet and weekly bulletins
•	 Pulse surveys and development discussions
•	 Regular reporting to the board and management team

The flow of information concerning risks, deviations, and sustainability 
targets is centralized through the group’s internal systems and is the res-
ponsibility of support teams (hr, hseq, finance). A whistleblowing channel 
enables confidential and anonymous reporting.

Monitoring and internal review
In 2024, the control framework was further developed, especially in 
terms of improving reporting systems and documentation practices. In-
ternal review operates as part of tapojärvi’s quality management system 
and the monitoring of the sustainability program.
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Ethical business conduct
Tapojärvi’s operations are based on responsibility, honesty, and tran-
sparency at all levels of the organization. The group’s code of conduct 
defines clear ethical guidelines for all employees and partners. It covers, 
among other things, non-discrimination, fair competition, respect for 
human rights, and anti-corruption. The guidance applies to all group 
companies and extends throughout the supply chain.

In 2024, the content of tapojärvi’s code of conduct was published on the 
elearning platform. Tapojärvi requires all stakeholders to commit to ethi-
cal principles and conducts audits based on risk assessment.

Insider administration
Tapojärvi is not a publicly listed company and is therefore not subject to 
official insider register requirements or Market Abuse Regulation (MAR). 
However, the group adheres to the principles of insider governance in 
handling confidential information, particularly in relation to investments, 
mergers and acquisitions, and contract negotiations. The handling of 
insider information complies with:

•	 Data protection regulations (gdpr)
•	 The group’s own information security policy
•	 Executive guidance on the management of critical information

Access to confidential documents and information flows is restricted to 
those who need them. The group’s it and data protection team is respon-
sible for information security in cooperation with business management.

Related party transactions
Tapojärvi defines related parties as the members of the board of direc-
tors, ceos, the management team, and their close relations (family mem-
bers and controlled entities). Related party transactions are identified 
as part of the group’s internal control and are documented through the 
financial administration’s oversight process.

Audit
The audit of tapojärvi oy for the year 2024 was conducted by the audit 
firm KPMG OY AB, which is authorized under the finnish auditing act. The 
auditor’s role is to ensure that the company’s financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with applicable laws and good accounting prac-
tices and that administration has been properly managed.

The audit report for 2024 was an unqualified report – the auditor made 
no remarks and did not require corrections or additional clarifications.

The auditor also reviews areas related to group reporting that concern 
tapojärvi’s international operations. In addition, the audit supports an 
independent assessment of internal control and risk management. 
Tapojärvi adheres to requirements of independence and expertise in the 
selection of auditors.

Risk management
At the core of tapojärvi’s business are responsibility, continuous impro-
vement, and proactive management. The purpose of risk management 
is to identify, assess, and proactively control uncertainties affecting the 
business while supporting the pursuit of new opportunities. The primary 
goal of risk management is to ensure the company’s operational capacity 
in a changing environment.

Main risks for Tapojärvi
Tapojärvi has identified four key risk areas in its operating environment: 
strategic, operational, financial, and hazard risks.

Strategic risks include, for example, technological investments that could 
lock the company into carbon-intensive equipment for the long term, 
complicating the transition to low-emission production. Increasingly 
strict environmental regulations and reliance on individual customers or 
market areas also pose strategic uncertainty.
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Operational risks include the availability and sufficiency of skilled person-
nel, which is particularly critical in the technologically demanding fields 
of mining and the circular economy. Disruptions in supply chains – such 
as the availability of spare parts or materials – can also delay production 
or cause interruptions.

Financial risks relate to fluctuations in the prices of fuel and electricity, 
as well as inflexible contract pricing. Long-term contracts are protected 
by index linkages, and liquidity is safeguarded with cash buffers and a 
variety of financial instruments.

Hazard risks are mitigated through insurance, backup equipment, and a 
decentralized operating model. For example, risks resulting from equip-
ment failures or operational interruptions are minimized through con-
tingency planning and multiple independent work sites across different 
locations.

Strategic opportunities

Alongside risks, tapojärvi recognizes numerous strategic opportunities. 
The utilization of digitalization and artificial intelligence enables the 
optimization of production and maintenance operations, improving both 
cost efficiency and environmental responsibility.

Innovative product development and the utilization of industrial side 
streams provide opportunities to develop new, low-carbon circular eco-
nomy products. This opens new markets for tapojärvi and strengthens 
its position as a pioneer in sustainable industry.

Developing employee competence is one of the most essential oppor-
tunities in risk management. Through training and elearning platforms, 
the resilience and capabilities of the personnel are improved to meet the 
demands of a changing operating environment.

Risk management structure and governance model
Tapojärvi’s risk management model is based on a systematic and conti-
nuous process that extends throughout the organization. Risk manage-
ment operates on a three-tier model:

1.	 Operational units are responsible for identifying and managing daily 
risks within their areas.

2.	 Management and governance monitor the overall risk landscape and 
ensure that actions align with the company’s strategic goals.

3.	 Internal control and auditing evaluate the effectiveness of procedu-
res and identify areas for improvement.

The process proceeds in phases: risks are first identified, then assessed 
based on impact and likelihood. Actions to mitigate risks are defined, 
and their implementation and impact are monitored and reported regu-
larly. All this is documented and integrated into the company’s operatio-
nal reporting.
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Tapojärvi’s Remuneration Report for 2024 presents the principles, 
structures, and key figures related to the remuneration of the company’s 
Board of Directors, management, and personnel. The aim of the report is 
to enhance transparency, support responsible governance, and strengt-
hen stakeholder trust.

Remuneration principles
Tapojärvi’s remuneration is guided by the following principles:

•	 Incentive-driven and performance-based: Remuneration is based on 
both company and individual performance in relation to set targets.

•	 Transparency and fairness: Remuneration systems are consistent 
and built on clear criteria.

•	 Long-term orientation and strategic alignment: Remuneration sup-
ports the company’s long-term growth and sustainability.

Remuneration of the board and management
In 2024, the members of Tapojärvi’s Board of Directors did not receive 
separate remuneration, in accordance with ownership structure and an 
internal agreement within the Board.

The remuneration of the CEO and Management Team consisted of:
•	 A fixed salary
•	 A performance-based bonus, linked to the Group’s EBIT and safety 

targets and the progress of strategic projects
•	 Fringe benefits, such as a company car and mobile phone

Remuneration principles: fairness, motivation, and 
responsibility

Remuneration Report
Employee remuneration
Tapojärvi rewarded its personnel through the following means:

•	 Performance bonuses based on production unit results, tied to safe-
ty and quality indicators

•	 Employee benefits, such as of a company-sponsored bicycle benefit 
(in spring 2024), the SMARTUM wellness benefit, and occupational 
health services

Tapojärvi invested in the development of employee competence by 
offering eLearning courses, leadership training, and encouraging internal 
career progression.

Key figures:

•	 Personnel expenses: EUR 61.1 million (Group)
•	 Salaries and bonuses: EUR 45.9 million (Group)
•	 Number of employees at year-end: 911

Rewarding Performance: Group EBIT:  EUR20.9 million
Parent company EBIT: EUR 19.9 million

Changes and developments in 2024:

•	 In 2024, the remuneration metrics were refined to better reflect the 
specific characteristics of different operational areas.

•	 Employee experience was monitored through pulse surveys, and an 
equality and non-discrimination survey led to concrete measures to 
improve the workplace community.

•	 No share or option programmes were reported.
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